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Corporate Information
LFEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors:

LIN Nuchao (Chairman of the Board)
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
YANG Liyu
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
ZHANG lJianmin
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
CHEN Danyun
(Re-designated as non-executive director on 23 June 2022)
CHEN Yang (Resigned on 23 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

FENG Qiang (Resigned on 23 June 2022)
WANG Ruilian
WENG Wesijian
CHEN Danyun
(Re-designated as non-executive director on 23 June 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

LAM Kwong Siu
NG Man Kung
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN Tao Ming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LIU Mei Ling Rhoda (Chairman of the Committee)
LAM Kwong Siu
NG Man Kung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LAM Kwong Siu (Chairman of the Committee)
NG Man Kung
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
NG Man Kung (Chairman of the Committee)

LAM Kwong Siu
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

REGISTERED OFFICE

Room 3306-08, 33rd Floor
West Tower, Shun Tak Centre
200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

31st Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street, Central

Hong Kong

SOLICITORS

Paul Hastings

22nd Floor, Bank of China Tower
1 Garden Road

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Standard Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Admiralty, Hong Kong
STOCK CODE

00181

WEBSITE
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Financial Summary
MGRE

RESULTS KR
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—g-= —E-TF —E-hE “T-N\F
B=+-8 +ZA=+-H +ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+—-H +=-A=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FEL FAL THT FHT
Revenue Y 18,898 23,427 25,689 42,005 39,146
(Loss)/Profit before tax BREiAT(B518),/ B (12,902) 2,683 1,108 10,219 10,773
Income tax (expense)/credit — FrEHi (i) /K& (1,406) 958 919 (757) (1,357)
(Loss)/Profit for the year KEE(B8B)/ B (14,308) 3,641 2,027 9,462 9,416
(Loss)/Profit attributable to ~ AARIEAA
owners of the Company S (BR) /& (14,308) 3,641 2,027 9,462 9,416
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

Year ended As at As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2022 2020 2019 2018

—T-TF —T-NEF —T-N\F

=t-A FEA= tZA=t—-B +ZA=+-8B +-A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT THT TAT THT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER&E

Total assets LERE 414,437 441,761 439508 430,302 420,600
Total liabilities BERE (11,913) (12,100) (16,604) (19,148) (16,187)
Net assets FEE 402,524 429,661 422,904 411,154 404,413
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Financial Summary (Continued)
MBW/E (1])

PER SHARE DATA sREF
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
kS B a3 —ZCEF —T-NF —E-N\F
+=A=+-8 [F=A=T B 1= —B +tZA=t-H +ZA=t-H
HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents
4l Al bl Bl bl
(Loss)/Earnings per share Bk (B8E)/ B (1.25) 0.32 0.18 0.83 0.82
Net book valug per share BREREHE 35.14 37.51 3692 35.89 35.66
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Financial Summary (Continued)
MGEHE (1)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY i
ERARHEAEGEAER SR(ER) BF
(excluding extra-ordinary items) (excluding extra-ordinary items)
(T BEFELTHEEE) (TEEFELTHEER)
HK$'000 F#7T HK Cents 71l
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5,000 I I 0.5
. m B ] m 0
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%jzit 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 Agzit 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2022
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Financial Summary (Continued)
MIGHE (1)

As of 31 December 2022 2021 Changes
R+=—A=+—H —E-= Z BE
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 %
BT T BT %
Financial highlights BSEE
Revenue W %5 18,898 23,427 (19.33)
(Loss)/Profit for the year NE(BE),/ B (14,308) 3,641 N/A
(Loss)/Earnings per share F&(E18),/&F
(HK cents per share) (FREN)
Basic R (1.25) 0.32 N/A
Diluted i3 (1.25) 0.32 N/A
RMB RMB
AR ARHE
Average daily room rate FEHEFREE 305 319 (4.39)
Hotel occupancy rate B JE A EE 25.61% 36.56% (29.95)
Liquidity ratios REBESLE
Current ratio mEntE =& 3.82 4.83
Average trade receivables & 5 el A
turnover days® BESN (U 9.88 15.70
Capital ratio Behb=x
Gearing ratio? BEAMBLXO 0.29% 0.33%
Notes: P -

(1) Average trade receivables turnover days is equal to the average of the (1) FHESEWFIEFE RSN E S EWFHIAR

beginning and closing trade and bills receivables balance divided by FEREBNFYRFRERNTIIER AL FE
turnover and multiplied by the number of days in the year. B BRUAFARE -
(2)  Gearing ratio equals non-current liabilities divided by total equity. 2 BEARBRLERZRIETHEBRUAERMERE -
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHRE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board” or
“Directors”) of Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company together
with our subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“2022" or the
“current year” or “reporting year” or the “year under review”)
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$18.90 million, as compared to
approximately HK$23.43 million in the corresponding period
last year representing on decrease of approximately 19.33%
for the corresponding financial year.

Net loss attributable to shareholders was approximately
HK$14.31 million (2021: profit HK$3.64 million).

Loss per share was approximately 1.25 HK cents for year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Earning per share 0.32 HK
cents).

Net assets (total assets less total liabilities) decrease by
approximately HK$27.14 million to approximately HK$402.52
million as compared with HK$429.66 million as at 31
December 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PROSPECTS

As the impact of the pandemic on the economy continues to
diminish, the resumption of normal cross-border traffic
between mainland China and Hong Kong is also beneficial for
economic recovery. China’s major economic indicators are
showing a trend of recovery and improvement. However,
market interest rate fluctuations have intensified and the
foundation of economic stabilization is not yet stable. Our
group will seize the long-term development trend of the
green environmental protection industry, cultural tourism,
and related industries, relying on our advantages in Fujian
Province. We will adhere to the principle of seeking progress
while maintaining stability, strengthen overall planning and
coordination, actively promote transformation and
integration, and continuously enhance the internal driving
force and long-term competitiveness of our group for
sustained development.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FREE (])

The Group is actively responding to the complex and ever-
changing external environment, accelerating the review of
existing businesses and continuously updating business
strategies to adapt to future development. It is actively
studying the revitalization and optimization plan for stock
assets such as Hong Kong properties to improve asset
management efficiency and unlock value, and continues to
strengthen the integration of hotel resources, cultural tourism
industry, green environmental protection industry, equity
investment, and other business clusters. It is actively
expanding new business models, promoting further
interconnection between the mainland and Hong Kong
markets, establishing a core business industry chain, and
strengthening its core competitiveness. The Group has
always attached importance to corporate governance,
actively promoted the construction of an internal control
system and compliance management, strengthened
governance mechanisms, and continuously enhanced its risk
prevention and control capabilities to provide strong support
for realizing the healthy and sustainable development of the
Group.

The overall goal of the Group is to comprehensively utilise the
Group's resources, effectively fulfill the corporate social
responsibility and to maximise every shareholder’s interest.
The group will actively integrated into the national
development, give full play to the institutional strengths of
the “one country, two systems” and the unique effect of
Hong Kong, adhere to the core business construction, adhere
to seek improvement in stability development, improve brand
connotation. With innovative thinking to promote reform of
the Group, adopt market-oriented incentive mechanism
combining internal training and external professional to build
a professional, efficient and effective talent team so as to
improve the potential and group resources of internal value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, business partners and
customers for their support, and to all our colleagues for their
efforts, hard work and dedication. Their hardwork represents
the foundation of the Group’s future business development.

Lin Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBE RS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December, 2022, the Group recorded
net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$14.31 million (31 December 2021: profit of
HK$3.64 million). The Group’s net loss is mainly attributable to
a series of uncontrollable factors as explained below, as well
as the decline in the number of tourists for the Group’s hotel
in Mainland China and office tenants have delayed or
suspended office leases which negatively affected the
financial performance of the Group.

Deemed disposal of interest in associate

As the goodwill arising from the deemed disposal of interest
in associate is less than the prior year and combined with the
impact of a home currency depreciation during the period, a
loss incurred on the deemed disposal of interest in associate
of approximately HK$2.09 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 as compared to a profit of HK$3.46 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Fair value of investment properties

As the Hong Kong Grade A office market is constantly under
pressure, there was a net decrease in fair value of investment
property of HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 as compared to a net increase in fair value of
investment properties of HK$2 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Income tax (expense)/credit

Due to the reversal of a deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$1.89 million during the year, there was a debit incurred
on income tax of approximately HK$1.41 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as compared to a credit of HK$0.96
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Share of loss of an associate

Due to the adverse market conditions during the year, there
was a share of loss of an associate (Fuzhou Harmony Piano
Co., Ltd. PRC) of approximately HK$1.74 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as compared to a share of loss of
an associate of HK$0.06 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THREFWESH (&)

An associate ceased to be an associate during
the year

In August 2022, the registered capital of the joint venture
company of our company, Fujian Huamin Leasing Co., Ltd.,
("Fujian Huamin Leasing”) has increased from
RMB270,000,000 to RMB500,000,000. After the capital
increase is completed, our company’s equity in Fujian
Huamin Leasing reduced to 18.44%.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the interest in finance
leasing contributed approximately HK$6.06 million profit for
the period (31 December 2021: profit of approximately
HK$7.28 million).

Gain arising on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss and
interest income

As the interest rate in mainland kept decreasing during the
year and part of the financial asset loss arising on change in
fair value through profit and loss, net loss arising on change
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss approximately HK$1.57 million. Compared to a net gain
arising on change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss totaling of HK$1.03 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Reduce in turnover and cost control

Due to weak market sentiment mentioned above, turnover of
the group reduced to approximately HK$18.90 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as compared to HK$23.40
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. After exercising
more cost control which resulted in a decrease in staff cost
from continuing operation approximately HK$0.70 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Given our good balance sheet status and cash generation
ability, our financial position continues to be strong. As at 31
December 2022, the gearing ratio (divided non-current
liabilities by equity plus non- current liabilities multiple by 100
which results in percentage) of the Group was 0.29% (31
December 2021: 0.33%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THREFWRSH (&)

The Group has maintained a low debt-to-equity ratio and has
sufficient liquid funds. Faced with a rapidly changing
environment, the Group has implemented cost-saving
measures, further strengthening cost control and minimizing
cash expenditures. In the context of the ongoing pandemic,
the Group prioritizes employee safety, strengthens internal
training and development, and improves rules and
regulations. The Group is actively seeking suitable primary
reserve projects to prepare for its sustainable development in
the next phase.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
A. Star-rated hotel operation

Star-rated hotel operation is the main source of revenue
for the Group. Based on the hotel location and its
current facility structure, the hotel is positioned as a
leisure and business hotel, expanding its sources of
conference and training clients. It will also increase
cultural cultivation such as the ‘Comrade’s Home’,
‘Chamber of Commerce Home’, ‘Calligrapher’s Home'
and 'Aid Friend’'s Home’, and establish an ‘Education
and Training Base'.

For the period under review, the average occupancy
rate was approximately 25.61% (2021: 36.56%),
representing a decrease of 29.95% over the
corresponding period of last year. Average daily rate
(ADR) was approximately RMB305 (2021: RMB319)
representing a decrease of 4.39% over the
corresponding period of last year.

The following table sets out the amount and percentage
of contributions from different businesses of the star-
rated hotel operation for the year ended 31 December
2022, together with comparative figures as of 31
December 2021:

31 December 2022

AEE-ERFEABRLXREETHRNNR
PEL HHEZENRNK - KEHETSIA
BRANEN - E— T IR AER - B8
WEREXH - REERBRENIERLT -
AREBEI 2 REEEH @ MRS
BRI RETERESE  BESHREEE
XHBEE  REE T SR RERRME
o

ZEDE
A. EFRIEEE

EREERERARBERZRAKLIR
REEEE MBS REEBIRN -
BIEEMSREREEEE  RE®
BIER MATERZR] TEA8Z
R TBERZR] [BERZR]IFX
185 - BY [HEEINIEM] -

REBEEHA  FHAEXRLY E2561%
(ZZT = —%F : 36.56%) ' BEFHEER
FEHAN T £ 4929.95% - T B REB
BB AREIST(ZTE-—F: A
R¥E3197L) KREFHEELEHAT
FE474.39% °

AEEEFBEEBEE_S -

+-—A=Z+—HLEFE SoBE®
MEXEREGEEERI I LE_T
T—F+ZA=+—HRHBLROT :

31 December 2021

—Z_—%+-_fA=+—H

—B--#+=-A=+-H

HKS$ in % of HKS in % of

thousand revenue thousand revenue

TET & FHETT iEdes

Accommodation revenue EEHEEWA 6,198 43% 10,181 56%
Catering revenue ZHBA 6,244 43% 6,041 33%
Rental revenue HFRUWA 1,157 8% 1,385 8%
Others Hib 787 6% 673 3%
14,386 100% 18,280 100%
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Accommodation revenue

The accommodation revenue was mainly determined
by the number of available rooms, occupancy rate and
ADR of the Group’s hotel. During the year under review,
the accommodation revenue of star-rated hotel was
approximately HK$6.20 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 39.12% over the corresponding period
of 2021.

Affected by weak market sentiment of the domestic
tourism industry, the operating income of the hotel
industry has declined periodically and the rigid
expenditure of operating costs cannot be reduced,
which brings challenges to the industry. During the
period under review, the source of customers
accounted approximately 59% of the total source, 4
percentage points more than approximately 55% in the
same period of last year. The Group will continue to
increase its market expansion efforts and implement
strict cost control measures, seeking to further improve
operational efficiency to minimize adverse impacts.

Catering revenue

Since 2015, the hotel has vigorously developed its group
catering business. During the review period, the group
generated approximately HK$6.24 million in revenue,
accounting for approximately 43% of the hotel business
turnover, a increase of 10 percentage points over 33%
in the same period last year.

High-quality customer service, a rich cultural
atmosphere, and a good geographical location are the
core competitive advantages of the hotel. The hotel
management is taking proactive measures to respond
to the pandemic, improving its internal strength,
expanding diversified operations, and launching food
and beverage sales functions. It is consolidating its
wedding banquet business and strengthening its online
and offline business for events such as the Mid-Autumn
Festival mooncake banquet, year-end party, and
teacher appreciation banquet. It is also strengthening
its online sales cooperation with banguet network
platforms such as “Wedding100” and “Yangege” to
achieve greater results in the expansion and extension
of banquets and group meals.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EHEMWMES T (1)

14

Looking ahead, as the impact of the pandemic on the
economy continues to diminish, the demand for leisure
travel and business trips is gradually being released.
Confidence in the domestic hotel market is gradually
being restored, and hotel business is gradually returning
to normal.

Rental revenue

In order to stabilise the income of the hotel operation,
the hotel leased out the shopping centre in the Group'’s
hotel. This contributed to approximately HK$1.16 million
in rental revenue during the year under review,
representing approximately 8% of the hotel operation’s
turnover.

Hong Kong properties held by the Group

Due to uncertain economic factors, the market
participation rate was lower in the leasing market this
year. At the same time, the Hong Kong Grade A office
market continued to be under pressure, with delays or
suspensions in office lease decisions by tenants,
resulting in a rental rate of only about 90% for the
Group's invested property projects during the review
period. After the full opening of Hong Kong in 2023,
office leasing demand will gradually recover, but the
increase in supply will lead to a continuous increase in
overall vacancy rate, and demand is still weak.
Therefore, it is expected that the rental market for
commercial properties will still face pressure.

During the period under review, the rental income of
the properties in Hong Kong was approximately HK$4.51
million, compared to the corresponding period of last
year representing a decrease of approximately 12%.

Piano Manufacturing

The Group diversified its business into piano
manufacturing by acquiring a 25% equity interest in
Fuzhou Harmony Piano Co. Ltd. (“"Harmony Piano”) in
2005. This business interest has brought a steady profit
to the Group for the past few years. However, the Group
recorded a share of loss from its interest in Harmony
Piano approximately HK$1.74 million for the period
under review due to declining market sales and rising
manufacturing costs. (2021: loss of approximately
HK$0.06 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THREFWESH (&)

D. Finance Leasing

According to the business development needs of Fujian
Huamin Financing Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Huamin
Leasing”), the registered capital of the joint venture
company of our company, Fujian Huamin Leasing, has
increased from RMB270,000,000 to RMB500,000,000.
After the capital increase is completed, our company’s
equity in Fujian Huamin Leasing will be reduced to

18.44%; Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company
Limited (“FHIG") holds 74.24% of the equity of Fujian
Huamin Leasing, and Fujian Mingang Enterprises Co.,
Ltd (“FMEC"). holds 7.32% of the equity of Fujian Huamin
Leasing. In addition, the total share premium generated
from this capital increase settlement is approximately
RMB680,000, which will be included in its capital reserve

during the period in which it is generated.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the interest in
finance leasing contributed approximately HK$6.06
million profit for the period (31 December 2021: profit of
approximately HK$7.41 million).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Improving operational efficiency and driving revenue growth
remain the group’s top priorities in 2023. The Group will
continue to use investment and operation management as
the core driver of enterprise value growth: continuously
search assets with healthy profitability and excellent growth
potential as long-term investment through our concept of
investment management. On the other hand, Our Group will
optimize its internal process and improve management
efficiency so as to enhance the potential and intrinsic value
of enterprise resources.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Capital Structure
As at 31 December 2022, the total share capital of the

Company was HK$898,839,029 divided into 1,145,546,000
ordinary shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a net cash balance
of approximately HK$39.73 million (2021: HK$49.52 million).
The Group’s net asset value (assets less liabilities) was
approximately HK$402.54 million (2021: HK$429.66 million),
with a liquidity ratio (ratio of current assets to current
liabilities) of 3.82 (2021: 4.83). During the year under review,
there was no material change in the Group’s funding and
treasury policies. The Directors do not expect the Company
to experience any problem with liquidity and financial
resources in the foreseeable future.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not charged any of
its assets (2021: Nil).

Funding and Treasury Policies

The funding and treasury policies of existing subsidiaries of
the Group are centrally managed and controlled by the
Group'’s senior management in Hong Kong.

Treasury Management and Cash Funding

The Group's funding and treasury policies are designed to
maintain a diversified and balanced debt profile and financing
structure. The Group continues to monitor its cash flow
position and debt profile, and to enhance the cost-efficiency
of funding initiatives by its centralised treasury function. In
order to maintain financial flexibility and adequate liquidity for
the Group’s operations, potential investments and growth,
the Group has built a strong base of funding resources and
will keep exploring cost-efficient ways of financing.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

There was no outstanding bank loan and other borrowing by
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

Capitalised Borrowing Costs

No borrowing cost was being capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THREFWESH (&)

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rate and
Related Hedges

There has been no significant change in the Group'’s policy in
terms of exchange rate exposure. The Group operates mainly
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Most of the transactions
and cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and in Renminbi (‘/RMB"). The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk due to the exchange rate
fluctuation of RMB against HK$. Moderate fluctuation of RMB
against HK$ was expected. The Group considered the foreign
currency risk exposure is acceptable. However, management
of the Group will monitor foreign exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when necessary.

As most of the Company’s business operations are located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Company faces foreign
currency risks due to exchange gain/loss from exchange rate
fluctuations as well as currency conversion risk due to
converted net asset value fluctuations of investment projects
in Mainland China. To effectively manage foreign currency
risk, the Company closely monitors foreign exchange
markets, and utilises multiple strategic approaches, such as
optimising cash management strategy and project finance
instruments, to manage foreign exchange risk.

The funding and treasury policies of existing subsidiaries of
the Group are centrally managed and controlled by the
Group'’s senior management in Hong Kong.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year under review, there were no material
acquisition or disposal of any subsidiary, associate or joint
venture of the Group.

Capital Expenditure and Commitment

During the year under review, the Group's capital expenditure
was HK$0.62 million (2021: HK$1.17 million). There was no
outstanding capital commitments as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THREFWRSH (&)

Contingent Liability

The Group did not have any significant contingent liability
during the year under review.

Major Events

Save as aforesaid, the Group had no material capital
commitments and no future plans for material investments or
capital assets as at 31 December 2022.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 110
employees in Hong Kong and Xiamen. The remuneration
package was determined with reference to performance and
the prevailing market rate. The Group also provides
employees with training, the opportunity to join its mandatory
provident fund scheme and medical insurance cover.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors. In response to specific enquiries made, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the
year.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEARRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lin Nuchao (“Ms. Lin") has been appointed as the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and an executive
Director in June 2022, she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning of the Group.

Ms. Lin, aged 49, is currently the vice chairman and general
manager of Fujian Tourism Development Group Company
Limited (fRi2A R B EEER A A]). She is responsible

for the daily operation.

Ms. Lin holds a master’s degree in literature from Fujian
Normal University (f@#2EM & X 22) and holds a postgraduate
qualification in ancient Chinese literature from the College of
Chinese Language and Literature (182 AN &5 A Z 300t ). Ms.
Lin has experienced working in multiple levels and positions,
and has strong overall coordination and management abilities
and has rich experience in administrative management and
enterprise operation. Ms. Lin has taken up a number of
management posts, including principal staff member of
general affairs office of Fujian Province, manager of general
affairs office and deputy general manager of liaison and
coordination office of Fujian Enterprise (Holdings) Company
Limited (£ B (5 E) A& R 22 A1), general manager of general
affairs office of Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company
Limited (18 2 # & & 2% (% E) B R 2 7)), chairman of the
board of Fujian CTS Group (f&2+ ik & B AR~ 7)) and chief
of office, vice general manager, general manager and vice

chairman of the board of Fujian Tourism Development Group
Company Limited (B2 & IREZEREB AR A A).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREHEARRBE (&)

Mr. Yang Liyu (“Mr. Yang"”) has been appointed as the
general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”)
and an executive Director in June 2022, he is responsible for
the general operation and management of the Company and
to execute the overall strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Yang, aged 49, is a deputy general manager of Fujian
Tourism Development Group Company Limited (18 2 & bk iz
2 E &£ B A R A 7]), general manager of Fujian Enterprises
(Holdings) Company Limited (¥ B (% E)& PR 2 7)) and
principle-in-charge of businesses in Hong Kong,

Mr. Yang holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from China
Central Radio and TV University (FF 28 & & E R K 2). He is
having worked in Hong Kong for a long time, this individual
possesses a certain level of international perspective and
strong experience in business management and capital
operation. In 2017, he was evaluated as an outstanding talent
for provincial state-owned enterprises (expert in cross-border
business management) by the Fujian Provincial State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission and
awarded the honor of Outstanding Entrepreneur of the 19th
Fujian Province in the year 2022. Mr. Yang served as deputy
general manager and chief financial officer of Dongguan
Changming Toy Factory (BRzc &It ER), general manager
of Huamin Tourism Company Limited. (& B jik %5 A R A &),
general manager of Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company
Limited (2 B (% B) A BR 2 7)), chairman of the board and
general manager of Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company
Limited (1REZZERME % (£ &) B R 2 7)), general manager of
Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company Limited (£ (% &)
AR~ 7)), and chief of office, general manager assistant and
general manager of Fujian Tourism Development Group
Company Limited (f2 2 & Ik ZEREBBR A A]).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREHEARRBE (&)

Mr. Zhang Jianmin (“Mr. Zhang") has been appointed as an
executive Director in June 2022, he is assisting the general
manager in the daily operations of the Group.

Mr. Zhang, aged 55, has over 30 years' experience in finance
management. He has taken up a number of management
posts, including the director and chief financial officer of
Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited (= 2 % B3
B ¥ (£ 8) AR A 7)) and Fuzhou Harmony Piano Co., Ltd. (18
PN 0B 8 = f% 19 B R A &), an assistant director of finance
department of Fujian Tourism Development Group Company
Limited (B 22 & ik 2 % R &£ B A R 2 7)) and director and
chief financial officer of Fujian Investment Holdings Company
Limited (£ B % & & B A& R 2 7]). Mr. Zhang obtained his
bachelor degree in economics from Xiamen University in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Ruilian (“Mr. Wang"), aged 59, is a non-executive
Director of the Company, and Mr. Wang was an executive
director and general manager of the Company from July 2006
to October 2015. With effect from 19 October 2015, Mr. Wang
has resigned as executive director and general manager of
the Group and has been re-designated from an executive
Director to a non-executive Director.

Mr. Wang has over 35 years' experience in management and
finance. Mr. Wang has previously been sent to oversea
companies to take up a number of senior management posts,
including a director and vice general manager of the Finance
Department of Fujian Investment and Development Company
Limited, and the managing director of Fujian Enterprises
(Hungary) Co., Ltd. Currently, he is a director of finance
department of Fujian Tourism Development Group Company
Limited (FTDC).

Mr. Wang acquired his bachelor degree in economics from
Xiamen University in the PRC and master degree of
International Management from Australian National University
in Australia.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREHEARRBE (&)

Ms. WENG Weijian (“Ms. Weng"), aged 52, joined the
Company in September 2018 as non-executive Director.

Ms. Weng graduated in the major of finance and accounting
from Minjiang University and in the major of law from East
China University of Political Science and Law. She is a Senior
Accountant in Mainland China. She has over 25 years’
extensive experience in risk management and control,
accounting, assets management and financial management.
She is currently the Supervisor of Min Xin Insurance Company
Limited, Fujian Minxin Investments Company Limited and
Sanming Sanyuan District Minxin Micro Credit Company
Limited. She is currently a Chief Auditor of Min Xin Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 00222), and also a director of Land Hot
(Hong Kong) Limited, Jian Xing Finance Limited, Jian Xing
International Investments Limited, Fancy Time Investment
Limited and Sino Earn Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Chen Danyun (“Ms. Chen”), former General Manager
and executive Director of the Company and has been re-
designated to a non-executive Director in June 2022.

Ms. Chen, aged 58, joined the Company in August 2015. She
was an executive Director and the General Manager till June
2022. Ms. Chen has over 30 years of experience in
international trade, corporate management and investment
management. Ms. Chen has taken up a number of senior
management posts. She is currently the secretary of
Communist Party Committee and general manager of Fujian
Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited ({82 R & % (%
=) BB a]).

Ms. Chen graduated from Xiamen University with a bachelor’s
degree in economics and obtained her Master of Business of
Administration degree from Murdoch University in Australia.
She is a senior economist.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREHEARRBE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Kwong Siu (“Mr. Lam”), 6ss , aged 88, was the
representative of the National People’s Congress (10th
Session). He is currently the vice chairman of BOC
International Holdings Limited, the honorary chairman of
Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Association, the life honorary
chairman of Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce, the
vice chairman of Fujian-Hong Kong Economic Cooperation,
the life honorary chairman of the Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce and the Adviser of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association, the honorary president of Chinese
Bankers Club, Hong Kong. Mr. Lam is also the Independent
Non-executive Director of Bank of China International Limited,
Yuzhou Properties Company Limited, Xinyi Glass Holdings
Limited, Far East Consortium International Limited and
Skymission Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Lam was awarded
the HKSAR Silver Bauhinia Star in 2003 and HKSAR Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2016.

Mr. Lam joined the Group and was appointed as independent
non-executive director in 11 December 2003.

Mr. NG Man Kung (“Mr. Ng"), aged 71, graduated from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an attendance
certificate in banking. Mr. Ng has been senior management in
banking industry of Hong Kong for 28 years. He was
appointed as the Managing Director and General Manager of
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited in 1992 and the vice-
chairman and Chief Executive of Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2001. He retired from Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2012. Mr. Ng was a member of the council of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from April 1999 to March
2003 and was a member of Fujian Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from
1993 to 2013. Mr. Ng was served as a management
consultant of China Orient Asset Management (International)
Holdings Limited from January 2014 to April 2015. Mr. Ng was
served as an independent non-executive director of Guoan
International Limited (Stock Code: 143) from 11 March 2016 to
26 February 2021, Renco Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code:
2323) from 23 March 2016 to 21 March 2022 and Shanghai
Zendai Property Limited (Stock Code: 755) from 25 May 2017
to 11 January 2021. Mr. Ng was served as a non-executive
director of Roma Group Limited (Stock Code: 8072-GEM) from
24 August 2017 to 18 December 2017. Currently, Mr. Ng
serves as an independent non-executive director of ELL
Environmental Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1395) from 5
September 2014, the Chairman of Supervisor Committee of
Well Link Bank in Macau from 31 March 2018 and an
independent non-executive director of Green Future Food
Hydrocolloid Marine Science Company Limited (Stock Code:
1084) from 25 September 2019.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREHEARRBE (&)

Mr. Ng joined the Group and was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 30 June 2014.

Ms. LIU Mei Ling Rhoda (“Ms. Liu“), aged 61, joined the
Group on 1 January 2019 as independent non-executive
director, chairman of audit committee, and committee
member of nomination committee and remuneration
committee.

Ms. Liu is a Member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants, Fellow Practicing Member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Fellow
Member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, and Fellow
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Ms. Liu holds
a Bachelor of Art Degree in Finance and Commercial Studies
from University of Western Ontario in Canada, Professional
Degree in China Law from Tsinghua University in China, and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from McMaster
University in Canada. Ms. Liu is currently a Practicing Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong and sole proprietor of Liu &
Wong, Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Liu is an
independent non-executive director and the chairperson of
the audit committee of Modern Health Technology Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 919).

Ms. Liu is a member of the 13th Liaoning Provincial

Committee of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.

24 FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEAR-F—MEXA=+ANBARE
AR RS
At R

BERZE([BEBRZL]) - A
—T-AEFE—A—BANAKREE - BB IE
ﬁﬂi% ERZRESXFE  REBZEEK
BENFMNEZEESKE -

BEETRMERGAERSEH %%‘H
BAEERAFES quEﬁi BERBEGER
SENERESEE “@Eofﬁi%ﬁ
MiﬁﬁﬁkWﬁgﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬂxgﬁi
B PRBEASBHBARERE LB
EMEAEREHBAREIHERBELE
h c BRTREBXR N EHAAA

c BR T BERBRERBIERAER QA (X

Tﬁﬁaﬂ 919) Z %83 3Fa&ﬂﬂ§$&%’f?§ﬁ
BXF
BRI RFTZETEARBAHBESHE



Directors’ Report
EFEHRE

The Directors present the annual report and the consolidated
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding, hotel business and property investment and those of
its subsidiaries are disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to
results by principal activities and geographical area of
operation for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results and cash flow of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the financial status of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 82.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the statement of net assets/
liabilities of the Group for the last financial years is set out on
pages4to7.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EERE ()

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 23.41% (2021: 28.22%) of the
Group's total sales for the year and the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 6.56% (2021:
7.67%).

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 48.14% (2021: 65.07%) of the Group's total
purchases for the year and purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 18.34% (2021:
16.30%).

None of the Directors of the Company, or any of his/her
associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital), had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out on page 80
and in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There was no Company'’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Details of the movements in right-of-use assets of the Group
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2022, the investment properties of the Group
were revalued by an independent firm of professional
surveyor and property valuer on an open market value basis
at HK$234.90 million. Details of these and other movements
during the year in the investment properties of the Group are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively and particulars property interests.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEHRE (1)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries and associates for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 19
and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the share capital of the Company
consisted of 1,145,546,000 ordinary shares.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no continuing connected
transactions which were required to be disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

None of the related party transactions as set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EERE ()

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

As at the date of this report, no accidents involving serious
injuries, death or property damage has been reported to our
management. Furthermore, during the reporting period, we
were not subject to any claims arising from any material
accidents involving personal injuries or death or property
damage that had a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operation. We were in
compliance with all relevant PRC laws and regulations
regarding occupational health and safety in all material
respects during the reporting period and as at the date of this
annual report.

Environmental Policies and Compliance

We are committed to minimise the impact of our activities on
the environment. To this end, various impact assessments
have been undertaken and policies created which are in line
with international best practices and long term sustainability.

The core values of our environmental policy are to meet all
the environmental legislations that relate to our operations.

In addition to full compliance with all laws relevant to
sustaining and improving the environment, we are committed
to deploying ecologically friendly construction techniques,
materials and operational procedures. It is policy of the Group
to promote clean operation and strives to making the most
efficient use of resources in its operations, and minimising
wastes and emission. The Group achieves this through
actively re-designing its activities and operation that
encourage and promote recycling of resources, using
environmental friendly raw materials and reviewing
operations constantly to ensure that the processes are
effective and efficient.

No environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the
reporting period. We are of the view that we were in
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in all
material respects during the reporting period and as at the
date of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEHRE (1)

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Economic risks

A severe or prolonged downturn of the global economy.
Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rate, inflation and
fluctuations of interest rates would adversely affect the
customers’ spending sentiment and the Group’s profit
margin.

Operational risks

Failure to compete in the competitive environment which the
Group operates in;

Unable to keep pace with the technological advances in
timely and cost-efficient manner; and

Failure to attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled and
qualified managerial, sales, marketing, operating, and
technical personnel, the loss of key personnel, or the inability
to find additional qualified personnel.

Regulatory risks

Failure to adhere to laws, regulations and rules, or to obtain
or maintain all applicable permits and approvals;

Infringement of valid patents, copyrights or other intellectual
property rights held by third parties; and

Any change in laws and regulations in different customers’
and suppliers’ countries.

Financial risks

Details of financial risks are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EERE ()

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders
including customers, suppliers and employees. This includes
providing the Group’s customers with good quality services,
and timely, appropriate pre/after sales services. Similarly, the
Group views its suppliers not just vendors but as strategic
partners, important links in its supply chain. The Group’s
procurement policy is to maintain good relationship and
communications with suppliers under the principal of mutual
trust. The Group considers its employees the key to
sustainable business growth. Workplace safety is priority of
the Group, and with due awareness of all employees
throughout the year, the Group was able to maintain safety
workplaces.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
while the Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. The Group accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong and
the respective places of incorporation of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board was unaware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEHRE (1)

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

LIN Nuchao (Chairman of the Board)
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
YANG Liyu
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
ZHANG lJianmin
(Appointed on 23 June 2022)
CHEN Danyun
(Re-designated as non-executive director on 23 June 2022)
CHEN Yang (Resigned on 23 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

FENG Qiang (Resigned on 23 June 2022)
WANG Ruilian
WENG Wesijian
CHEN Danyun
(Re-designated as non-executive director on 23 June 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

LAM Kwong Siu
NG Man Kung
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to one-third shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Lin Nuchao, Mr. Yang Liyu and Mr. Zhang
Jianmin shall retire by rotation in the forthcoming annual
general meeting and all, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EERE ()

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting have a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHY

Biography of the Directors is set out on pages 19 to 24.

Directors’ Emoluments and the Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Details of directors’ remuneration and those of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS BY
DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and
chief executive in the shares, underlying shares, and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFQO")), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Long position in shares and underlying shares
of the Company

Director Type of interests
= R ER

CHEN Danyun Personal

BRFTE & A

Save as disclosed above, during the year under review, none
of the Directors and chief executive had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At no time during the year was the Company or its
subsidiaries engaged in any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with any business of the
Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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INTERESTS IN ASSETS OF THE GROUP

During the year, none of the Directors had any direct or
indirect interests in any assets which have been acquired or
disposed of, or leased to, or which are proposed to be
acquired or disposed of or leased to, the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors was materially interested directly or
indirectly in any contract or arrangement subsisting during or
at the end of the year under review which is significant in
relation to the business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, as far as is known to the Directors
and the Company, and as confirmed upon reasonable
enquiry, the register maintained by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO shows that the following persons (not
being Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which are
required to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Company or had an
option in respect of such capital were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company AKRATRMDZEFR

Number of Percentage of total

shares of issued shares
Name of Shareholders the Company held of the Company (%)
AR RAT HEBRITARAT
RREH RGEE ROBEHDL
HC Technology Capital Company Limited (“HC Technology”) 770,016,722 (a) 67.22
ERMRBREGRAR([EER])
Fujian Investment Holdings Company Limited (“FIHC") 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
ERREEEGRAR([EREEKRE])
Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited (“FHIG") 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
BRERNEX(RE)BERAR(TEREXE])
Fujian Tourism Development Group Company Limited 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
("FTDC")

wBREKEZREEARQR]([KESE )

Sino Earn Holdings Limited (“Sino Earn”) 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
Ex(FE)ERBERAR([EE))

Fujian Huaxing Trust & Investment Company (“FHTI") 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
REERETREAR([FEHEFTE])

Fujian Huaxing Industrial Company (“FHIC") 72,553,382 () 6.33
BREHEBENA([EHEE])

Fujian Huaxing Group Company Limited (“FHGC") 72,553,382 () 6.33
REAEEREEFREMT AR ([1BEEHR])

Fujian Investment & Development Group 72,553,382 (D) 6.33

Company Limited (“FIDG")
REEREAEEEGREETAR(IFEEE])
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Notes:

(a) HC Technology and its associates hold 786,948,772 Shares
(representing approximately 68.70% of the issued share capital of the
Company) among which (i) 770,016,722 Shares (representing
approximately 67.22% of issued share capital of the Company) are held
by HC Technology and (ii) 16,932,050 Shares (representing
approximately 1.48% of the issued capital of the company) are held by
Pinoge Company Limited. The issued share capital of each of HC
Technology and Pinoge is 100% beneficially owned by FIHC, which is in
turn 100% beneficially owned by FHIG, which is in turn 100%
beneficially owned by FTDC, a state- owned corporation under the
control and supervision of FISOASAC in the PRC. Pursuant to the SFO,
each of FIHC, FHIG and FTDC is deemed to be interested in 786,948,772
Shares.

(b) Sino Earn beneficially holds 72,553,382 Shares. The issued share capital
of Sino Earn is owned as to 30% by FHTI and 70% by FHIC respectively.
Both of FHTI and FHIC are 100% beneficially owned by FHGC, which is
in turn 100% beneficially owned by FIDG, a state-owned corporation in
the PRC under the control and supervision of FISOASAC. Pursuant to
the SFO, each of FHTI, FHIC, FHGC and FIDG is deemed to be interested
in 72,553,382 Shares.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

There were no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group which were entered into or existed
during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Scheme under rules and regulations of MPF Schemes
Ordinance for all its employees in Hong Kong. All the
employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ salaries and are charged to consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group
to the schemes and costs charged to the consolidated
income statement represent contribution payable to the
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director or other officer of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted
by the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the
indemnity agreements made by the Company, which are
currently in force and were in force throughout the financial
year, contained permitted indemnity provisions (as permitted
in Section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)), for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The Company
has also taken out and maintained Director’s liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors. In response to specific enquiries made, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public
as of the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of
office will expire upon the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There has been no
change in the Group's auditors in any of the preceding 3
years.

On behalf of the Board

LIN Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

To create a long term value for the interests of the
Shareholders is the Board’'s main objective. As such, the
Board is highly committed to achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and striving to maintain the
Mmanagement practices in a transparent and responsible way.
The Board reviews and improves the Group’s corporate
governance practices and business ethics on an ongoing
basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company complied with all the code
provisions, where applicable, as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. All the Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategic planning, business
development, risk management, material acquisitions and
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant
operational and financial matters. Major corporate matters
that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management, such as the preparation of annual and interim
accounts for the Board's final approval before its publication,
execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by
the Board, implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance
with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations. The Board has also delegated to the relevant
senior management the authority and responsibility for the
day-to-day management and operation of the Group.
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The Board has also established the Board Committees (as
defined below) and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties of the Group and will assign relevant
functions to other board committees, namely the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
collectively, the “Board Committees”) as and when
appropriate.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials, and the advice and services provided by
the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the
Company, and has the liberty to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. The Directors will be continuously
provided by the updates on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD
PRACTICES

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the
business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business
performance of the Group, approving the financial statements
and annual budgets as well as directing and supervising the
management of the Company. Execution of operational
matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the
management by the Board with clear directions.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of
nine Directors, three of whom are Executive Directors, three
Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. One of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Board composition review will be made regularly to ensure
that it has a balance of expertise, skills and expertise
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Group. In accordance with article 101 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to one-third shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible for
re-election.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All existing Executive Directors are entitled to a fixed salary
per annum respectively. The remuneration of each Executive
Director is subject to review of the Board with reference to
his/her contribution in terms of time, effort and his/her
expertise. The emolument policy for Non-executive Directors
is to ensure that the Non-executive Directors are adequately
compensated for their efforts and the time dedicated to the
Company'’s affairs, including their participation in the Board
Ccommittees. Individual directors and senior management are
not involved in the determination of their own remuneration.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in note 13
and note 14 to the financial statements.

All Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for
reasonable expenses incurred during the performance of
their duties to the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are carried out by different
individuals. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
overall strategic formulation, management and planning of
our Group. During the year under review starting from 23
June 2022, Ms. LIN Nuchao was the Chairman. The Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. YANG Liyu, who is responsible for
business development and day-to-day management and
operations of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY

The Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and the Chief
Executive Officer are separate individuals, to maintain
segregation of duties between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.
One important role of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board. The Chairman has to ensure that the Board
works effectively, discharges responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. All Directors are consulted about matters proposed
for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated to
the Company Secretary the responsibility for drawing up the
agenda for each Board meeting.

The Group supports the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Group’s Chief
Executive Officer has been delegated such authority. The
Board always acts in the best interests of the Group, and all
Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board. Meeting between the Chairman and Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) without the presence of managing Directors has
been scheduled as at least once a year.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the board of Directors comprises
three Executive Directors namely Ms. LIN Nuchao, Mr. YANG
Liyu and Mr. ZHANG Jianmin, three Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. WANG Ruilian, Ms. WENG Weijian and Ms. CHEN
Danyun, and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LAM Kwong Siu, Mr. NG Man Kung and Ms. LIU
Mei Ling Rhoda. Details of the Chairman and the other
Directors of the Company are set out in the section
“Directors’ Biography” of this report.

With the various experience of both the Executive Directors
and the Non-executive Directors and the nature of the
Group's business, the board considered that the Directors
have a balance of skills and experience for the business of
the Group.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”). A summary of this policy, together with the
measurable objectives set for implementing this policy and
the progress made towards achieving those objectives are
disclosed as below.
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Ssummary of Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of
having a diverse board to the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the board. In designing the board’s
composition, board diversity has been considered from a
numbers of measurable aspects including gender, age,
ethnicity, knowledge and length of services. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regards for the benefits of diversity on the board.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the board.

As at the date of this report, the Board’'s composition under
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:
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The board of director and the nomination committee has
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the
Board Diversity Policy.

Implementation and Monitoring

The nomination committee reviewed the board’s composition
under diversified perspectives, and monitored the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets regularly. For the year ended 31 December
2022, it held nine meetings. Regular Board meetings of the
year are scheduled in advance. All notices of the meeting of
the Board will be made to various directors at least 14 days
prior to the meeting. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the memorandum of the meeting as to
give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Board papers are
circulated not less than three days before the Board
meetings, to enable the Directors to make informed decisions
on matters to be raised at the Board meetings and to offer
them sufficient time to review the documents. The company
secretary normally attends all regular Board meetings to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance,
accounting and financial matters when necessary, as to
ensure the compliance and maintenance of sound corporate
governance practice. The company secretary shall prepare
minutes and keep record of matters discussed and decisions
resolved at all Board meetings.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) among members of
the Board. All of them are free to exercise their independent
judgment. The Company has received annual written
confirmations from all Independent Non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence during the year under
review pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.
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The Board members meet regularly, to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational and financial performance
of the Company. Other Board meetings will be held when
necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, nine regular Board
meetings and a meeting with Non-executive Directors were
held and the attendance records of individual Directors are
set out below:
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Attendance
R
Board
Director gxe
Chairman FE
LIN Nuchao (Appointed on 23 June 2022) MEZB(R—_E-—F,A=-+=BLF) 5
Executive Directors HITESE
YANG Liyu (Appointed on 23 June 2022) BRAEWR-_E-_—FBA=-+=BLF) 6
ZHANG Jianmin (Appointed on 23 June 2022) REGF(N T - —FA-+=H L) 6
CHEN Danyun (Resigned on 23 June 2022) BRAE(RZZE__F A T=A§F) 3
CHEN Yang (Resigned on 23 June 2022) BB (R —F A=+ =HEE) 3
Non-executive Directors IFMITEF
FENG Qiang (Resigned on 23 June 2022) BE (R ZF A=+ =HEE) 3
WANG Ruilian TR R 3
WENG Weijian S 9
CHEN Danyun (Appointed on 23 June 2022) BAZE(RZZE-_—_F ~A=Z+=H L) 5
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITESE
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK 9
NG Man Kung R 3
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER 3
A meeting between Non-executive Directors was held, in  JERITEERIT T —REF LRI TE
which Non-executive Directors reviewed the future BZARKERE - ERTEELXEU LT ©

development of the Group. No Executive Directors took part
in any discussion of the above.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for
attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting
agendas and other relevant information are normally
provided to the Directors in advance of Board meetings. All
Directors are consulted to include additional matters in the
agenda for Board meetings.
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Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are
followed.

Draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors
for their comment and records respectively. Minutes of Board
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and such
minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable prior notice by any Director.

Insurance policy has been arranged to safeguard the interests
of the Directors in case of legal proceedings.

Independent Non-executive Directors and
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 11 December 2003 and
reappointed nine times with tenure of two years and expiring
on 10 December 2023.

Mr. Ng Man Kung was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 30 June 2014 and was
reappointed four times with tenure expiring on 29 June 2024.

Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda has appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 1 January 2019
and was reappointed two times with tenure expiring on 31
December 2024.

However, their tenure is subject to retirement by rotation at
the Annual General Meeting in compliance with the amended
and restated Articles of Association of the Company and the
Code on Corporate Governance, under which they have to
retire by rotation and make themselves eligible for re-
election.

Mr. Wang Ruilian, Ms. Weng Weijian and Ms. Chen Danyun
were appointed as Non-executive Directors on 19 October
2015, 11 September 2018 and 23 June 2022 respectively. All
are subject to retirement by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting in compliance with the amended and restated
Articles of Association of the Company.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received confirmation of independence from
the three Independent Non- Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lam Kwong Siu, Mr. Ng Man Kung and Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu have served the Board of the Company
for more than 19 years. He has clearly demonstrated his
willingness to exercise independent judgement and to
provide objective challenges to the management. There is no
evidence that length of tenure is having an adverse impact
on his independence. The Board therefore considers that Mr.
Lam remain independent, notwithstanding the length of his
tenure.

The Board as well as the Nomination Committee have
reviewed the independence of all Independent Non-executive
Directors and have concluded that all of them are
independent within the definition of the Listing Rules. Further,
up to the date of this report, the Board is not aware of the
occurrence of any events, which would cause it to believe
that the independence of any of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has been impaired.

Relationship
None of the members of the Board has any relationship

(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between each other.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board recognises the importance of integrity of financial
information and acknowledges its responsibility for preparing
interim and annual financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the Group's affairs and its results and cash flows
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and the Companies Ordinance. In presenting the financial
information, as well as price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures as required by regulations, the
Board endeavors to present in a timely manner to
shareholders and other stakeholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects. Accordingly, appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently, and
judgements and estimates made by the management for
financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable. The
Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and
which enable the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the Companies Ordinance and the
applicable accounting standards. Prior to the adoption of the
financial statements and the related accounting policies, the
relevant financial information is discussed between the
external auditors and the management, and then submitted
to the Audit Committee for review.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to identify, evaluate and manage risk exposures
that may impact the efficiency and effectiveness of the
Group'’s operations and provide reasonable assurance but
not a guarantee about whether they are free from material
misstatement, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.
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The management is primarily in charge of designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and
internal control systems. The Board has the overall
responsibilities for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and overseeing the
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. Such
duties have been carried out and performed with the
assistance of the management and the Audit Committee.

The Company has engaged an internal control advisor for
providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems annually, including reviewing
guidelines and policies which are implemented throughout
our operation, and risk management practices with an aim to,
among other matters, improve our Group's corporate
governance. The independent internal control advisor is also
responsible for providing its findings and any
recommendations, in respect of enhancing the Group’s
systems as appropriate, to the Audit Committee. Based on
the findings and comments by the independent internal
control advisor and the Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management
systems effective and adequate and was of the opinion that
there were no significant areas of concern that might affect
the Company’s shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Company will continue to engage external
independent professionals to review the Group's systems of
internal control and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group’s system as appropriate.

In terms of management of liquidity risk, the Board monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate to finance the Group’s operations with the
assistance of the Group’s management. In order to minimise
the credit risk on receivables, the Board has adopted credit
risk management policies and procedures by making periodic
collective as well as individual assessments on the
recoverability of receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience. Besides, the Board manages to
formulate conservative strategies for mitigating other financial
risks of the Group, which include overseeing the interest rate
risk and currency risk.
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The Group has established internal control procedures which
provide the Board and employees with guidelines on
assessing, reporting and disseminating inside information. In
addition, inside information is disseminated to relevant
personnel on a need-to-know basis, and the Group will
review the existing policy and practice from time to time to
ensure full compliance with the regulatory requirements.

During its annual review, the Audit Committee also ensure
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and
internal audit functions, and their training programmes and
budgets.

The scope of the internal control review carried out during
the year including but not limited to:

e  the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the issuer’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment;

e the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the
internal control systems, and where applicable, the
work of its internal audit function and other assurance
providers;

e the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s))
which enables it to assess control of the issuer and the
effectiveness of risk management;

o significant control failings or weaknesses that have
been identified during the year. Also, the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in
the future have, a material impact on financial
performance or condition; and

e the effectiveness of processes for financial reporting
and Exchange Listing Rule compliance.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the
board was of the opinion that the Company had maintained
an effective risk management mechanism and internal
control system during the financial year ended 31 December
2022.
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Professional Development HERRE

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the AWMBIEEZHEZERE N AR EEE
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars  EHEHBZ B ABERENENEES 2 M
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Al #K&iHEE - 2 REENMEHFEISEEXELE
Directors also participate in continuous professional &tZ| - A BIREE A T8 2 SN RE
development programs, to develop and refresh their #e  pSEEHESS s EEEENREFH
knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the £ Z f0z% KRiEE - SEETEX 2B 8k
Board. A record of the training received by the respective HZAAGATMEERE RFEH

Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of

the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for #HZE-—Z-——F+-_A=+—HILEE &
the year ended 31 December 2022 is summarised below: BEEESIEY 2 AR mT

Reading materials and
Attending seminar(s)/  update relating to the
program(s)/ latest development of

conference(s) relevant Listing related

to the business regulatory

or directors’ duties requirements

HEEBXBRESH MEERELHRA

BEzE%e T/ RitBAEERE

SRZER 2R R EH

LIN Nuchao METER v v
YANG Liyu BAE 4 4
ZHANG Jianmin SRR v v
WANG Ruilian T IR X 7
WENG Weijian SEE X v
CHEN Danyun BRATE X v/
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK X v/
NG Man Kung Rt X v/
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda B xR v v

All the Directors also understand the importance of Z2REFH THIAFERELER 2 EE
continuous professional development and are committed to AR EERAE 25 - LABRE R B HE
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh their 5 2 #0:% K F e o

knowledge and skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has appointed a number of committees to
discharge its functions. Sufficient resources are provided to
enable the Board committees to undertake their specific
roles. The respective role, responsibilities and activities of
each Board committee are set out below:

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in
1999. Currently, it comprises three members, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Mei
Ling Rhoda who possesses professional accounting
qualification, Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Ng Man Kung. Ms.
Liu Mei Ling Rhoda is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee adopted its the terms of reference in
accordance with the Code issued by the Stock Exchange. The
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review
and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. Four meetings had been held by the
Audit Committee during the year under review. Each
Committee meeting was provided with necessary financial
information of the Group for consideration, review and
assessment of major issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the members of
the Audit Committee met four times and their attendance is
as follows:

Name of member REHRE

LIU Mei Ling Rhoda (Chairman) BER (E/E)
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK

NG Man Kung R

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and final
financial results for the year 2022. The Audit Committee
considers the financial statement to be complied with the
appropriate financial standards and the law regulations and
with sufficient disclosure has been made.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2022. The following is a summary of
work performed by the Audit Committee during the year
2022:

(i)  reviewed and discussed the annual accounts for 2021
and the interim accounts for 2022 with the management
of the Company, with recommendations to the Board
for approval;

(i reviewed the significant audit and accounting issues
arising from the external auditor’s statutory audit of the
2021 annual accounts and issues arising from the
review of the 2022 interim accounts;

(i) reviewed the impact of the new and revised accounting
standards on the Company;

(iv) reviewed the external auditor’s audit strategy and
approach;

(v) reviewed the non-audit services provided by the
external auditor in 2022;

(vi) met with the external auditor to discuss issues from the
audits and any other matters the external auditor might
raise;

(vii) reviewed the Internal Audit objectives and approval of
the Annual Internal Audit Report;

(viii) reviewed the findings and recommendations of the
Internal Audit team on the audits carried out on the
principal activities of the Group during the year 2022;

(ix) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems;

(x) reviewed the relevant sections in the Corporate
Governance Report for the year ended 31 December
2022 concerning the Audit Committee;

(xi) reviewed the adequacy of the resources, staff
qualifications and experience; and

(xii) reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
their annual caps.
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The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are prepared
by the secretary of the Audit Committee with details of all
matters considered by the attendees and of decisions
reached, including any concern raised by the attendees and
dissenting views expressed. The final version of the minutes
is sent to the attendees for their records. The minutes are
open for inspection by the Committee members and the
Board members.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3
members, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee members are set
out on page 2 of the annual report.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

o Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of Executive and Non-executive
Directors of the Group

o Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the members of
the Remuneration Committee met four times and their
attendance is as follows:

Name of member

BERZECCRCABERZEENER
B HALREESEENMBE SR NE
RZRTE - BREEFEE QRENEMRAEE
ARARENRBER - @R LB IZRE
BERXTHREEAEFE eZLHER
MTZBehEZTXE UMHERM -

FHERE

FNZE SRR =K EEK  MEER
BYFATES - THNZ BN BHNAEF
HE2H -

FHERE S BEERFIFT —ERERAENE
FFo ABIEARSREES K =R E 2 E 8 F B
BRMT R - FMEZ B SRR RRE

o REAAKENITRIFNTESZHF M
DRI AEESRHUER

i

s REAKEEFRNMENSERE

RZB__F+_A=+—RHEE FWHE
Be8THREE  REHFEFERINT

Attendance
HE R

LAM Kwong Siu (Chairman) WEK(E/E)
NG Man Kung EPE
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER
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The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The following is a summary.
of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the year 2022, including:

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
but are not limited to, making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management (Who are also executive
directors of the Company), reviewing and approving the
special remuneration packages of all executive directors with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time and determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors. The Company has adopted written terms
of reference for the Remuneration Committee that clearly
define the role, authority and function of the Remuneration
Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on both the Exchange’s and the
company'’s websites.

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme. The
emoluments of Directors are determined based on the duties
and responsibilities of each Director. The Directors’ fees were
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee considered the fees reasonable in
view of the Directors’ responsibilities.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
of the Group by band for the year ended 31 December 2022
is set out below:

Remuneration bands

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 13 and note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee members are out on page 2 of the
annual report.

[ts duties include:

56

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy,

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individual(s) nominated for directorship(s);

to assess the independence of INEDS;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board (if any) and the chief executive;

to review the Nomination Policy and to ensure
disclosure of the same in the Corporate Governance
Report, including the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the nomination
committee to select and recommend candidate(s) for
directorship;

to review the Board Diversity Policy periodically and to
ensure disclosure of the same or a summary of it in the
Corporate Governance Report, including the measurable
objectives that the Committee has set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives; and
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— to ensure disclosure will be made in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
an individual as an INED at the general meeting:

e the process used for identifying the individual and
why the Board believes the individual should be
elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent;

° if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, why the
Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

e  the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

° how the individual contributes to diversity of the
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the members of
the Nomination Committee met three times and their
attendance is as follows:

Name of member

— REFERNBRRASLREZ2RER
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R/ SRR R RER R EE

e MUMEZBALHNRE EBF
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KR Rza AL BBIAL
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o WMRREBUIFATESFHLME
FER(HLAL) EMARNE
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ARHKHEBETEZEENRA

s RBALAUR/EZTSHRNEE
HAK  REERER M

s RBATWAREEZEEKEZS
T °

RZB__F+_A=+—HEE 8%
B@8TZREx REHFEERIOT

Attendance
HE R

NG Man Kung (Chairman) R (FE)
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER
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The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The following is a summary.
of work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year 2022:

()  reviewed the Company’s policy for nomination of
Directors;

(i) reviewed procedures for appointment of new Directors
and plans for orderly succession;

(i) reviewed the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company;

(iv) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board of the Company;

(v) reviewed and recommended to the Board the
nomination of the membership of committee of the
Company;

(vi) recommended re-election of the retiring directors at the
annual general meeting of the Company; and

(vii) assessed independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company.

REPORTING PROCEDURE

At the next meeting of the Board following a meeting/written
resolution of the Committee, copy of the minutes of the
meeting/resolutions setting out the findings,
recommendations and decisions of the Committee shall be
submitted to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance
functions with the following duties:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations on changes and updating;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

such other corporate governance duties and functions
set out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for
which the Board are responsible.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure they continue to meet the requirements
of the Code during the year of 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company Secretary of the
Company, Mr. Chan Tao Ming Alex, fulfilled the requirement
under Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As an
employee of the Company, the Company Secretary SUpports
the Board, ensures good information flow within the Board
and Board policy and procedures are followed; advises the
Board on governance matters, facilitates induction and,
monitors the training and continuous professional
development of Directors. He had attained not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year under
review.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Audit Committee has reviewed a service plan from HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited regarding their independence
and objectivity and had a meeting with HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited, the external auditors of the Company, to
discuss the scope of their audit and approve the scope.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

An analysis of remuneration in respect of service and non-
audit services provided by the auditors and its common
control entity during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as
follows:

For the year, no non-audit service provided by auditor of the
Company.
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The auditors’ reporting responsibility is set out on pages 69 to
76 of this annual report.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Company:

o is required to disclose inside information as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules

o conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information

o ensures, through its own internal reporting processes
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.

POLICY ON THE RECOMMENDATION AND
DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND

The Board may propose the payment of dividends for a
financial year. The recommendation of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board. The Board will take into account
the following factors when considering the proposal of any
dividend payment:

— the actual and expected financial performances of the
Company and each of its group member companies
(collectively the “Group”),

— retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

— the level of the Group’s debts, return on equity and the
relevant financial covenants that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

— the Group's expected working capital requirements and
future capital expenditure plans;
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— general economic conditions, internal and/or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance of the Group;

— relevant statutory and other regulatory restrictions; and

— any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good
communications with the Shareholders and investors. A
shareholders’ communication policy setting out the principles
of the Company in relation to Shareholders’ communications,
with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and timely
communication with Shareholders via various means, has
been established.

The Company’s Annual General Meetings (“AGM") are
valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the Shareholders and to answer questions Shareholders may
raise. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
for each substantial issue, including the re-election and
election of individual Directors. The detailed procedures of
conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the
commencement of the AGM, to ensure that Shareholders are
familiar with such procedures.

The Company's last AGM (“2022 AGM") was held on 29 May
2023 at SOHO 1, 6 Floor, IBIS Hong Kong Central & Sheung
Wan Hotel, No. 28 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong. All the resolutions proposed at that meeting were
approved by shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of
the poll results are available on the Company’s website at
www.fujianholdings.com.
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The attendance record of the Directors at the 2021 AGM is
set out below:

Directors EE

LIN Nuchao (Appointed on 23 June 2022)
YANG Liyu (Appointed on 23 June 2022)

WANG Ruilian FIm iR
WENG Weijian SiETE
CHEN Danyun BRATE
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK
NG Wan Kung EE
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BxR

A key element of effective communication with shareholders
and investors is the prompt and timely dissemination of
information in relation to the Group. The Company commits
to report to the Shareholders of the Company the Group’s
corporate information in a timely and punctual way through
notifying or mailing to all shareholders via press release,
Interim Report and Annual Report. The circular of the AGM
will be distributed to all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to
the meeting, which set out the requirements and the
procedure of the vote and the relevant details of other
proposed resolutions. The printed copies of the Group’s
annual report and interim report will be dispatched to all the
shareholders.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. After review, the Company is
of the opinion that the implementation of the Company’s
shareholder communication policy is adequate and effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s articles of association
during the year ended 31 December 2022. A copy of the
latest consolidated version of amended and restated Articles
of Association of the Company is posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders of the Company as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirement under
Paragraph K of the Code:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by Shareholders

In accordance with section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”), Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to vote at
general meetings may request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). The request(s) must
state the general nature of the business to be dealt at the
meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. The request(s) may consist of several documents in
like form and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form which must be authenticated by the
person or persons making it.

In accordance with sections 567 and 568 of the Companies
Ordinance, if the Directors do not within 21 days after the
date on which they are subject to the requirement under
section 566 of the Companies Ordinance to convene an EGM
for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the
notice convening the EGM is given, the Shareholder(s)
concerned, or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene an EGM, provided that the EGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in the

same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Fujian Holdings Limited

Room 3306—3308, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
200 Connaught Road Central

Email: info@fujianholdings.com

Tel. No.: +852 2810 9222

Fax No.: +852 2868 9930

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the board of Directors and/or
relevant Board Committees of the Company, where
appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

Proposing a resolution at an annual general
meeting

Shareholder(s) may request the Company to give, to all
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of AGM, notice of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting pursuant to section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance, if they:

@

represent at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution
at the annual general meeting to which the requests
relate; or

are not less than 50 Shareholders who have a right to
vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the requests
relate.

The request(s):

@)

(o)

may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form;

must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given;

must be authenticated by the person or persons making
it; and

must be received by the Company not later than six
weeks before the AGM to which the request(s) relate; or
if later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting.
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PROPOSING A CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR AT AGM

Pursuant to article 105 of the articles of association of the
Company, if a Shareholder intends to nominate a person
other than the retiring Directors for Director at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit the following documents to the
Company'’s registered office during the period commencing
on the day after the dispatch of the notice of such meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date
appointed for such general meeting, and the length of the
notice period shall be at least seven days:

(@ awritten notice of such proposal for the attention of the
Company Secretary, signed by the shareholder who is
qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting;

(b) biographical details of the candidate as set out in Rule
13.51(2)(a) to (x) of the Listing Rules; and

() a written consent signed by the candidate indicating
his/her willingness to be elected.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Standard Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

Other enquiries or comments raised by any Shareholder can
be mailed to the Board at the Company’s head office in Hong
Kong at Room 3306-08, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or sent

through email to info@fujianholdings.com.
RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s management believes that risk management
is an essential component of the Group’s administrative
structure. The management assists the Board in evaluating
material risk exposure existing in the Group’s business,
including investment risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk etc,
and participates in designing and formulating appropriate risk
management and internal control measures, and to ensure
its implementation in daily operational management.
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The management considers that the investment risk
management measures provide guarantee to the Group
through its way of seeking new development opportunities,
as to secure reasonable return in every investment, to reduce
investment risks and to avoid possible loss attributable to
investments.

The Group's risk management towards liquidity aims to
ensure that under all circumstances there exists sufficient
capital to fulfill repayment obligations of all debts due, to
maintain good creditworthiness, to finance reasonable
investment opportunities and to fuel business development.
The Group’s accounting department is responsible for daily
financial activities and monitoring liquidity position from time
to time to cope with business operation of the Company.

The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control and risk management systems
once during the year ended 31 December 2022 which
covered financial, operational, compliance procedural and
risk management functions and had considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function. In light of the size and scale of
the Group's businesses, the Board is also delegated with the
responsibilities for the internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group has therefore made continued efforts to uplift its
quality of corporate governance. It has established a highly
effective system of internal controls and adopted a series of
measures to ensure its safety and effectiveness. As a result,
the Group is able to safeguard its assets and protect the
interests of its shareholders.

The Board is of the view that the systems of internal control
and risk management are effective and there are no
irregularities, improprieties, frauds or other deficiencies that
suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control system.
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CORPORATE MONITOR

The Board is responsible for monitoring the Group's overall
corporate reporting process and control system, while the
corporate reporting standard is handled by the accounting
department, which makes regular review of resources
allocation and financial reporting system properly.
Compliance with Code on Corporate Governance Practices,
the Listing Rules, SFO and other applicable laws and
regulations are handled by the Company Secretary. The
Company’'s management meets with the Executive Directors
regularly to review and brief the reporting system, and the
Audit Committee annually to review and brief the reporting
system.

A package of detailed materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors of the Company is provided
to each newly appointed Director of the Company, in which it
is especially specified the applicable rules and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) that the first time appointed
Directors of the Company shall notice and understand.

In respect of the securities transactions made by Directors
and relevant employees, the Company has adopted Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules, the Model Code, as its own Code of
conduct regarding the standard for securities transactions.
Printed copies of the Model Code have been distributed to
each Director and relevant employees of the Group as
stipulated therein. Having made specific enquires of all
Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the standards set out therein.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information about the Group are also subject

to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code.

On behalf of the Board

LIN Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Independent Auditors’ Report
I HE RS

HLE) B # & st & ¥ i f A 4

HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

TO THE MEMBERS OF
FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77
to 186, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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I HED RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS RMREHFER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional EREETEE2BRERFINEEHE - 25
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HARHGENEREANEBATRAEENS
consolidated financial statements of the current period. I8 - EEEIFEER MBI BEEAHER
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of KRHEE BEHETERIER - KT HiE
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in  LEIERHEFHER -

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARELSEE EMEFTHEENEERELT R

Valuation of financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
URAAEFEARZE A ER AL/ IT A7

BRERGRE B HREZ R E21

We identified the valuation of financial instrument Our procedures in relation to valuation of financial

at fair value through profit or loss as a key audit - instrument at fair value through profit or loss included:
matter due to high degree of estimation

uncertainty in determining the fair value. — Evaluating the objectivity, independence and

_ _ competency of the external valuer engaged by the
As at 31 December 2022, the Group's financial management and the valuation specialist engaged
instrument at fair value through profit or loss by us;

amounted to HK$104,515,000.
— Obtaining understanding of the approach and

Significant estimation and judgement are required valuation methodology adopted;

by management to determine the fair values. To

support management’s determination of the fair —  Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to
value, the Group engaged an external valuer to assess the methodologies and assumptions
perform valuations on these assets at the end of adopted in the valuation;

the reporting period. ) ) )
—  Checking the accuracy of the fair value calculation

prepared by the external valuer; and

— Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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I BEh R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) REBEER 2

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARELSEE EMEFTHEENEREL X

Valuation of financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)
URAAEFEARZE A BB LM T A7 (&)

BRERGE I BEREF I 21 (&)

BEEERBETERNMEAMAGREEAE — REINBHEMRINQTEETFOERENE
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BIAZBENIE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

RARELSEE

MEBEEER ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRMEEFPHENEESR

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

REWRFE
LB E IR R 18

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter due to the
management’s judgement associated with
determining the fair value.

The Group has various investment properties in
Hong Kong. Such investment properties are
measured at fair value and the aggregate carrying
amount of these investment properties was
HK$234,900,000 as at 31 December 2022.

Significant estimation and judgement are required
by management to determine the fair values of
the investment properties. To support
management’s determination of the fair value, the
Group engaged an external valuer to perform
valuations on these assets at the end of the
reporting period.

BARSREVMENHERBRELFEE  RE
HEIREHETE A ERA B HE R EAR

EEEREBHER TREME - ZBEKREYE
BARENE  EUREVEREE T ——
+ = A=+—H/AREEEE{E A234,900,000/8 7T °

EEBAFLEXRGE LA UEEREME
MR E - SRERNHE HRINE B R4 H %
BEELAGEREAFFEQRE -

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

— Evaluating the objectivity, independence and
competency of the external valuer engaged by the
management and the valuation specialist engaged
by us;

— Obtaining understanding of the approach and
valuation methodology adopted;

— Assessing whether the investment properties were
valued on a consistence basis;

— Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to
assess the methodologies and assumptions
adopted in the valuation;

—  Checking the accuracy of the fair value calculation
prepared by the external valuer; and

— Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

BMEEHE BEREHREVENGEEMATHERFE
EEOE

— HERBRRFMIMEZEXFEHMNTEML B
SEMEBE SRR

— BERYMRANIERGETTANER
— FIERBEVERSR-EAESTAHE:
— BREEXFEEBHRAFEEGENTENRE

.
ﬂx’

— BRERINEZEETFHMEEN AR EFENE
s &

o

— ZEEHREMBHRRABBENRIM -

il

72 FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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I HE RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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BN ERE

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
I HE RS

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P0O5895

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income
FeEEREMZEKEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

Revenue W25 5 18,898,404 23,427,213
Other income Hibr A 7 318,271 328,978
Other gains and losses HibhZ R EE 8 (2,473,799) 3,054,012
Employee benefits expense ETIEFIZH 12 (11,227,512) (11,947,750)
Depreciation of property, ME - BERREBINE

plant and equipment 16 (3,765,086) (3,988,799)
Depreciation of right-of-use  FAEEERE

assets 17 (3,076,609) (3,255,587)
Finance costs B #& A< 10 (96,737) (28,986)
Share of profit of associates FE{LEEZ AT Z &R 4,332,636 7,346,545
(Loss)/Gain on deemed BIEHEHE AT Z

disposal of an associate (E518) W 20 (2,085,554) 3,462,133
Other operating expenses Hitice &R 9 (13,725,543) (15,714,627)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRELAT (B518) & 12 (12,901,529) 2,683,132
Income tax (expense)/credit  FrEHi (XH) EE 1 (1,406,268) 957,447
(Loss)/Profit for the year KEE (FE) BANIE

attributable to owners of i N/NE=Y =N

the Company (14,307,797) 3,640,579
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consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
iR EM2ZENEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

Other comprehensive Hi2m(BxX) W
(expense)/income PERAEATFEA
attributable to owners of
the Company

Item that may be reclassified BEE AT ES B E B o IRE -
subsequently to profit or l0Ss:
Exchange differences on BMEBINETEEZ
translating foreign operations EHZRR (10,966,105) 4,854,808
Exchange differences BN EEBRN
reclassified to profit or loss PE N ZE%E -
upon:
Deemed disposal of RIEH S E N A]
an associate (1,862,871) (1,738,228)
other comprehensive AEEHMR2EFIX),
(expense)/income for the Wiz D ERARQ T
year attributable to owners  FH AHIBRFTEH
of the Company, net of
income tax (12,828,976) 3,116,580
Total comprehensive AEEEZHE(BX) KE
(expense)/income for the PERAEATEFEA
year attributable to owners
of the Company (27,136,773) 6,757,159
(Loss)/Earnings per share R (BR) 27
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (ZRAE) 15 (1.25) 0.32
Diluted (HK cents per share)  #5& (Z8840) 15 (1.25) 0.32
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
HEMBRKAR
At 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

RZBZZF+-A=+—HGAHTIIT)

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - = K& G 16 12,596,501 16,264,079
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 6,924,353 7,570,121
Investment properties &QW% 18 234,900,000 235,800,000
Interest in associates AN T - 20 14,513,460 128,507,445
Financial assets at fair value ;Ez&{a SIRANBEES
through profit or loss L ERMEE 21 104,515,000 -
Deferred tax assets EETRIRE E 27 = 1,886,819
373,449,314 390,028,464
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 285,767 293,550
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E M fEUBE TR 23 970,883 1,918,563
Cash and bank balances P4 NIRT1TEEER 24 39,730,957 49,520,268
40,987,607 51,732,381
Current liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables B 5 & HAth BT ER K 25 9,503,695 10,453,374
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,234,573 239,739
10,738,268 10,693,113
Net current assets REBEEZEE 30,249,339 41,039,268
Total assets less current HWEERRBAES
liabilities 403,698,653 431,067,732
Capital and reserves EAXRKEE
Equity attributable to owners of  ZRA R HE AFE(LHERS
the Company
Share capital A& K 28 898,839,029 898,839,029
Reserves B (496,314,789) (469,178,016)
Total equity RAERZ LA 402,524,240 429,661,013
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 248,245 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 27 926,168 1,406,719
1,174,413 1,406,719
403,698,653 431,067,732
The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 186 EEZEe@R_-_ZT-_=—4=F - +/MADH#EL

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of HEFBELREB I GAMBHREAPEI7E

Directors on 24 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by: £186E -
Lin Nuchao Yang Liyu
Mz BAE
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEERBE xR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z-_—F+_A=1+—HIELFEAETIIF)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RNEHEAER
Share Translation  Accumulated
capital reserve losses
R BREGFE BB
(Note 28)
(FizE28)
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—-HA—-H 898,839,029 (1,938,464) (473,996,711) 422,903,854
Profit for the year KEERF - - 3,640,579 3,640,579
Other comprehensive AEEHEM2ERE
income for the year - 3,116,580 - 3,116,580
Total comprehensive AEEZA
income for the year Wras i@z - 3,116,580 3,640,579 6,757,159

Balance at 31 December 2021 WZZTE=—F+=A

and at 1 January 2022 =+-8k
—E-__%—-A—H 898,839,029 1,178,116 (470,356,132) 429,661,013
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (14,307,797)  (14,307,797)
Other comprehensive expense  AEEHM2E L H
for the year - (12,828,976) - (12,828,976)

Total comprehensive expense  AEERE Y L5
for the year - (12,828,976)  (14,307,797)  (27,136,773)

Balance at 31 December R-E-=&
2022 +=A=+—-H 898,839,029 (11,650,860) (484,663,929) 402,524,240
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

Cash flows from operating activities RE XK >HREHKE

(Loss)/ profit for the year REE (E518), /B (14,307,797) 3,640,579
Adjustments for: FHEIEE :
Income tax expense/(credit) SRt (&%) 1,406,268 (957,447)
Bank interest income RITA B UA (50,854) (49,975)
Share of profit of associates AN R (4,332,636) (7,346,545)
Finance costs EUR DN 96,737 28,986
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 3,076,609 3,255,587
Depreciation of property, Y - BEREHEZITE
plant and equipment 3,765,086 3,988,799
Net decrease/(increase) in fair "EMEARETF
value of investment properties WD, (38hn) 900,000 (2,000,000)
Loss/(Gain) arising on change in fair EXEcmEECANE
value of financial assets at fair S Es R (Was) (R
value through profit or loss BamARMARE) 1,573,866 (1,029,205)
Loss/(Gain) on deemed disposal of BIEREBME AR
an associate e, (kas) 2,085,554 (3,462,133)
Loss on disposal of property, HEDE - BEREHEZ
plant and equipment E 18 HER 6,828 5,003
(5,780,339) (3,926,351)
Movements in working capital LEESBIR KLER
Increase in inventories FEE (17,782) 9,814)
Decrease in trade and B 5 & H At U AR 5O 4
other receivables 895,165 312,010
Decrease in trade and 25 R HEMEMERIUR D
other payables (466,008) (2,123,991)
Cash used in operating activities KEEBEeT (5,368,964) (5,748,146)
Interest received 2 B 809,988 1,079,180
Net cash used in operating activities RX&EXKR & T8 (4,558,976) (4,668,966)
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ﬁ = Iﬁ.ﬁl)lbii

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT__F+_A=1+—HILFEAETIIF)

Cash flows from investing activities REXKZREHKE

Payments for property, BEYE  BELXE
plant and equipment (617,008) (1,169,597)
Net cash used in investing activities REXK RS HFEE (617,008) (1,169,597)

Cash flows from financing activities M EXEcRERE

Repayments for lease liabilities HEABREK (1,222,553) (1,414,614)
Interest paid EfTHE (96,737) (28,986)
Net cash used in financing activities BEXB >R HTHE (1,319,290) (1,443,600)
Net decrease in cash and RERASEERLFHR

cash equivalents (6,495,274) (7,282,163)
cash and cash equivalents FUOzEeRAEEE

at the beginning of year 49,520,268 55,701,628
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [ R & &)~ s £ (3,294,037) 1,100,803
cash and cash equivalents FRCESRASSE

at the end of year, representing MBS RBITER

cash and bank balances 39,730,957 49,520,268
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BE
1.

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)
GENERAL

Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Hong Kong as a public limited company and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company
is HC Technology Capital Company Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its ultimate
holding company is Fujian Tourism Development Group
Company Limited (“FTDC"), a state-owned corporation
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company is Room 3306-08, 33/F, West
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
investment holding, property investment in Hong Kong
and hotel operations in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency
of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

2.

84

SR+~ A=t B S E el

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial
Statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSS in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

=
2.

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts'

© 5845 1B 15 R 4 S0 37 R R A4S
AERMBREERA

AEEVEREEAUTEEMEN
R AT RS E AT BB S B
R

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction'’

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

BAKREER RBAH
FTL% (e
“ECEETAM
S Sy |
BRIl &R
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EAIEEUBREED REZEHABECES
eSS RELEVHNEE
EBE -5 &5 B B2

EAIEABREER  HEAHRTMNEE
FT % EF3

CHEY e CEEREATDAR
F—5 &ﬁm@ﬁ1&ﬁ%
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% % L
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ENH
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FT%
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£ 15

SIHRNBE
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BEARMETHR'

L ERAR2023FE1 A1 2 EFRIBNFEE

HAfE

2 HEARFFE B s Z & B R RO HifE

& BWRHR2024F1 A1 ZEFRIENFE

HAE

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSS will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEaMBE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EREBE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

RHREEERE

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 REUNBRRNEREE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain investment properties and financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
("HKAS 36").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment
properties which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technigue that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEHBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FESTHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non- controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

90

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests are derecognised. A gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Investments in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e. existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee,

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss to the
extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are
not classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

92

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Interest in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in associates is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates. Changes
in net assets of the associates other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of associates
exceeds the Group’s interest in associates (which
includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associates), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)
Interest in associates (Continued)

An investment in associates is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of
the investment in associates, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in associates may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment 10ss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

94

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Interest in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over associates, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associates and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associates,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in
the associates is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associates. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the associates on the same
basis as would be required if the associates had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by the associates
would be reclassified to profit or 10ss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Interest in associates (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or an investment in a
joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value
upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in
associates but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with the associates
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associates are recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associates that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and
service that is distinct or a series of distinct goods
or services that are substantially the same.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

96

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

Revenue from hotel operations

Accommodation income is recognised in the
period in which such services are rendered
because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Catering and other income is recognised when the
goods or services is transferred or rendered to the
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HER T2

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. IF8H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Eei
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of office premise
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease in not
readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

100 FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees,

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonable certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBERNERNEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERHRE®)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEFEAEAA (Z)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEAE#E)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are BB EER%  HEAaBLMNE

adjusted by interest accretion and lease XA S RIEFE -

payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes IR ARG - NEBEFH T

a corresponding adjustment to the related right- =sHEaBG(UHEBEERES

of-use assets) whenever: EfEHEERE) :

e the lease term has changed or there is a o HHEMEHNITHFEEER
change in the assessment of exercise of a EBEMNTLEMES  Eit
purchase option, in which case the related BAT  HEHEEEESRR
lease liability is remeasured by discounting FRAEFT G A ENKEET
the revised lease payments using a revised BLIR RELIR BT ENM K
discount rate at the date of reassessment. MEBEHFtE -

e the lease payments change due to changes e HMHENFREHFHMSHEEE
in market rental rates following a market rent TIHHE S HERE %S
review or expected payment under a BETNENZEEmEIR
guaranteed residual value, in which cases TE) EIERT - HEA
the related lease liability is remeasured by SaEFHYBELIEERELIR
discounting the revised lease payments AEET M &~ 7 & #F =t
using the initial discount rate. 2o

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate AREEKHEEABIEAGAN

line item on the consolidated statement of RRRHEBEBIEB S H o

financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. IF8H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Eei
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of
lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables at commencement
date at amounts equal to net investments in the
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other
than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of
the net investments in the leases. Interest income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group'’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. IF8H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Eei
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases
(Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model. Variable lease payments
for operating leases that depend on an index or a
rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS
15") to allocate consideration in a contract to lease
and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions
are accounted for as lease modifications, including
lease incentives provided through forgiveness or
reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15
to assess whether sale and leaseback transaction
constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a buyer-lessor

For a transfer of asset that does not satisfy the
requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as
a sale of asset, the Group as a buyer-lessor does
not recognise the transferred asset and recognises
a finance lease receivable equal to the transfer
proceeds within the scope of HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. IF8H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Eei
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rate of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or 10ss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Share-based payment
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Shares/share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based payments reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payments reserve. For shares/share options
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

108

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Share-based payment (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Shares/share options granted to employees
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to equity. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will continue to be held in share-based
payments reserve/will be transferred to retained
profits/other reserve.

Shares/share options granted to parties other than
employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured
at the fair value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses unless the goods of
services qualify for recognition as assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit/loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

110

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax conseqguences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied by to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

In accessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to
be used by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and
deferred taxes are determined consistently with
the tax treatment in the income tax fillings. If it is
not probable that the relevant authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

112

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including hotel
property held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost or fair value
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subseqguent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Hotel property is interests in buildings and their
integral fixed plant which are collectively used in
the operations of the hotel, and are stated at cost
less subsequent depreciation and impairment
losses. The related repairs and maintenance
attributable to hotel property are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period which they
are incurred. The costs of significant
improvements are capitalised.

Depreciation of the hotel property is calculated on
the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the
hotel property over the remaining lease terms.

Depreciation of other property, plant and
equipment is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their
useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the reducing
balance method at a principal annual rate of 20%.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or |0ss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased
properties which are being recognised as right-of-
use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or
accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
A leased property which is recognised as a right-
of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEHBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)
Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that the
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Impairment of tangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment 1oss,
the impairment l0ss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment l0ss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

116

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented
as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE—

= — —

—_—<

Ft+-A=1+—HILFERNETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

118

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ol
it

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 FESTHER#E)

SRMIAE)
SRMEEDEREERTE

e TR S RS ERRIR
BESHAK G E

s SREAEEEEBEAR

B HEMRKESRR
E: R

k> 3
t%

SE]

=

S RGRER E B EAR
e - BMEX AR MK
$iE’Jﬂ§ °

uTn}I-H> H>

??/:.\TEIJ AT © B S E R AR R
AREAEEMES NS ([RA
REFEEMES LIﬁZﬁnJ)

s SREENRBEARSA
HAZE@EBKRRERRE
MMIHE R ER : M

ANMERIEHEE B HAE AR
tb Eziﬁibw§1§%ﬂi
BASBORESMAE -

ANy
(=)
AN
i
ey

=

g



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEE (1B)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

120

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost
and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For
financial instruments other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(if)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measure at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or 10ss
recognised in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line
item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEHBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, and cash and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure ECL when uses a lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the day past
due.

For all other financial assets, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z__F1T-_A=T—BHIFRCABETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEEHBE )
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FESFHBERE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations,

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. IF8H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Eei
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RHREEERE

B
BE (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low
risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“iInvestment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
iS more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEHBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for eases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit rating where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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e BERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)

BHE

SR+~ A=t B S E el

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

128

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEHRENEINEERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EEBE &)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEEHHEE)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
iSsue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, and lease liabilities) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

130

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person,

() has controls or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;,

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third party;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(viy the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(viij a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close member of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to
inference, or be inference by, that person in their
dealing with the entity.
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4.

132

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
0n an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers have
based on a method of valuation which involves certain
estimates. In relying on the valuation report, the
directors of the Company have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions
and underlying assumptions adopted for capitalisation
of the income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for the reversionary income potential of
the property interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses group based on shared credit risks
characteristics and the days past due to calculate ECL
for the trade receivables. The loss allowances are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Note 31.

Estimated impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (4) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of and individual asset
(including right- of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to
which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, are
HK$6,924,353 and HK$12,596,501 (2021: HK$7,570,121
and HK$16,264,079) respectively. Details of the
impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17
respectively.

Valuation of investments classified as
level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

The Group holds financial instruments that are not
traded or quoted in active markets. The Group uses its
judgement to select the appropriate methods and make
assumptions based on market conditions existing at the
end of each reporting period to estimate the fair value
of such financial instruments classified as level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques include the
market approach using prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities such as net
assets values as provided by an independent third-party
qualified valuers. Although the best estimate is used in
estimating fair values, there are inherent limitations in
any valuation technique. Estimated fair values may
differ from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.
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5. REVENUE 5. k&
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WD TAT -

Revenue from other sources H i ZEREA 4,511,972 5,146,981
— Gross rental income — HAEKA

Revenue from contracts with ZEERBA
customers
— Hotel operations — BIEEB = 14,386,432 18,280,232

18,898,404 23,427,213

(i) Disaggregated of revenue from () RAZEARANKADH
contracts with customers

Types of goods or services Bk AR H Bl
Accommodation income EEHEWA 5,893,525 10,018,401
Catering and other income BERRHAMBA 8,492,907 8,261,831

14,386,432 18,280,232

Geographical markets BiwEE DTS
Mainland China i B A D, 14,386,432 18,280,232

Timing of revenue recognition U A fE 2 k5[
A point in time A —{E R 5 2Y 8,492,907 8,261,831
Over time R —ER B 5,893,525 10,018,401

14,386,432 18,280,232
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REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

For hotel operations, the performance obligation
is satisfied when services are rendered.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2022 are all
expected to be recognised within one year.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of services provided.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

the rental of investment
properties

Property investment —

Hotel operations — the operation of hotel
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEBEHE 2
Segment revenue and results DR R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBIZA BB BEI D 2w R E
results by reportable and operating segments: BT -
Property investment Hotel operations Total
NERE BEEEY ot
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E--F ZE-C —E--F& ZE-C “E-—&
REPORTABLE SEGMENT REABES 2
REVENUE
Revenue from external customers & B4MBR P Uz 4,511,972 5146981 14,386,432 13280232 18,898,404 23427213
REPORTABLE SEGMENT REMED 2 ER
RESULT
Segment result before other RarE i REEN
gains and losses: DEFELE 3,049,200 4883958  (9,575,535)  (5,965226) ~ (6,526,335)  (1,081,268)
Net (decrease)/increase in fair REMENLAEEF
value of investment properties (R)/%m (900,000) 2,000,000 - - (900,0000 2,000,000
Segment result PEEE 2,149,200 6383958 (9,575,535)  (5965226) ' (7,426,335) 918,732
Unallocated (expense)income K& 4 (S H)/ A (2,251,464) 14,412
Finance costs SRR (96,737) (28,986)
Corporate administration costs ~ EATHEA (5,374,075)  (9,129,704)
Share of profit of associates RAEBEDE 2 A 4,332,636 7,346,545
(Loss)/Gain on deemed disposal  B{EHEBEAT)
of an associate Z(BR)/ & (2,085,554) 3,462,133
(Loss)/Profit before tax BHiA (B18),/ &7 (12,901,529) 2,683,132

Income tax (expense)/credit FrEm () E%

(1,406,268) 957,447

(Loss)/Profit for the year REE (BR)/BF

(14,307,797) 3,640,579

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2021: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of bank interest income and other
unallocated (expense)/income, corporate administration
costs including directors’ remuneration, share of profit
of associates and income tax (expense)/credit. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

bz o Bl EIERA AR
2R o RERIWES BBREHERE (=
T )

T$ﬁ&gkﬁﬂzaﬁﬁ”ﬁ¢%
et BRAER - »HRAIEEDE
BRER 2 B - MW &S BLIRTTF B UL
AREMEAEES (ZH), WA %
TERAABREEEME  BEBEA
Az B RS MSﬂﬂ/ﬁ% lig
%iﬁﬁzﬁ%iﬁw REEEIER
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

SEMEHE @)
DHEEREE

AEBBABRHRE
ERBESTMT :

ED BN E

Property investment Hotel operations Total
NERE B L]
2022 2022 2021 2022 2021
-B-C —E-C 2 & CB-CE
ASSETS BE
Segment assets P48E 242295594 204326222 52,981,258 66,662,719 295,276,852 310,983,941
Interestin associates i AN W 14,513,460 128,507 445
Financial assets at fairvalue through ~ ERIEREALEE
profitor loss BE72RAE 104,515,000 =
Unallocated corporate assets FENDFEE 131,609 2264459
Consolidated tofal assets GRREE 414,436921 441,760,845
LIABILITIES 8k
Segment liabilities NEafE (3,248,483) 2123578) ~ (6,818,855) (7443232~ (10,067,338) (9.566,810)
Unallocated corporate liabilties FEADNAERE (1,845,343 (253302
Consolidated total liabiities GABARE (11,912,681) (12,099,832

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than interest in associates, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, deferred tax assets and certain
cash and bank balances.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain balances of current liabilities and deferred
tax liabilities.

Other segment information

Property investment

BRARELIRS MIRITHERR - RBEE QA
s BRBRRARNEBEEEL
TMEENRELEREEE IBEE

BESREZEDE
BRRLUBHEEERLECHEBAE

S A RBEHE DR ERTRRD L o

Htt o HER

Hotel operations
BEXH

Total
3

Other segment information
Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets [ FIERE 7 E

Net decrease/(increase) in fair
value of investment properties

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

NERE
2022 2021
B | ZF- &
HthAHEH
FRYEERE 2,479,491 -
ER
LITE 20,313 20,963
1,202,602 1,331,580
RENERNDABEF
Wb/ (Em) 900,000 (2,000,000
HENE - BERE
pd - - -

2022
S

——

2021
“E-—F

2022
e

—

2021
—E-—F

568,358 1169597 = 3,047,849 1,169,597
3,744,773 3967836 « 3,765,086  3988,799
1,874,007 1874007 = 3,076,609 3255587

= = 900,000 (2,000,000
6,828 5,003 6,828 5,003
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas
— the Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and deferred tax assets is presented based
on the geographical location of assets are detailed

6. DEEIHE #)
EER
REB T EBEER

A EZEH R

B — PERREE -

B E -

W s K B B AR 38 b [ & 5

AEBRBIINBEFZ

P FFE R

BETHERDEEMNELCHBAEE
MEMEM  SREEEMELRE
TER @ FHAERWT :

below:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
RENMBEF 2z FREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C & C—E_C —E-—fF
Mainland China B E A 14,386,432 18280232 32,463,623 152,027,523
Hong Kong E5 4,511,972 5146981 236,470,691 236,114,122
18,898,404 23427213 268,934,314 388,141,645
Information about major customers EBTEREFNER

No external customers of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

7. OTHER INCOME

AEER-_ZT-_—_FR-_FT-_—FE
WREINBEFERNEBITINZ S
F238 10% < =B M -

7. Efthlx A

Bank interest income RITABUA 50,854 49,975

Government grants (Note) BT & B (BaE) 139,696 91,575

Others HAith 127,721 187,428
318,271 328,978

Note: FyeE -

During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of RARER  AEEBIANE Tﬁmﬁﬂﬂﬁn\ —

HK$72,000 (2021: HK$91,575) in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies,
which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong
Kong government for compensating the Group’s staff costs. The
amount of HK$67,696 were government subsidies granted to a
subsidiary in the Mainland China. There are no unfulfilled condition or
contingencies relating to these grants.

18 B8 &Y BT 4 BS 7%72000,%75( -F
S EEFEEBRFRENRE

91,5758 L) »

T —F:

XEAEEHE - W EBS#67,6968 T i

FRA B A B L
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HttkEREIE

Net (decrease)/increase in fair value %xé%%ﬁ’]@ft

of investment properties ),/ 1N (900,000) 2,000,000
(Loss)/Gain arising on change in fair FIE}E}E% SN EE
value of financial assets at fair BEveMEEA AL ENRE
value through profit or loss 2 (E\8) s (1,573,866) 1,029,205
Loss on disposal of property, plant  EEHE - R RHBENIBL
and equipment (6,828) -
Net foreign exchange gains SN I 2 6,895 24,807
(2,473,799) 3,054,012
9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 9. HiEEEH

Auditors’ remuneration ZE M B & 780,000 780,000
Business taxes and other charges & KM 259,498 953,274
Bank charges W5 ER 86,148 78,170
Hotel operations B G & E 4,959,423 5,053,273
Legal and professional fee FENEEER 324,628 495,980
Listing cost AR 303,909 305,270
Management fee EREEHA 318,345 288,417
Other operating expenses B ziEE A 4,986,392 6,374,645
Rent and rate e REMW 162,102 154,386
Sundry expenses Hih H 526,183 322,574
Utilities expenses NASEBXH 1,018,915 908,638

13,725,543 15,714,627

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. IR F

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 96,737 28,986
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

11. INCOME TAX

11. Fie iR

Deferred tax: EIERIA -

Current year (Note 27) NEE (MsE27) 1,406,268 (957,447)
Total income tax expense/(credit) REENRBEmRERNFTEH

recognised in profit or loss X () 1,406,268 (957,447)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
in the consolidated financial statements as the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries did not have
any assessable profits for the year (2021: Nil).

Under the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements as the
PRC subsidiaries incurred losses for taxation purposes
for the year (2021: Nil).

BEEEFSHMBAHFESHESE
ABREBEKENE 2008 BT B
1 8.25% Hy A5 R FR - 1 A 200 & B
TCEO A 5% 16.5% B R4HL T
EMAGFEHEFNENEMETEE
Bk BB EEIR 16.5% NG —F
EEB B AEREEKEBES
B RSB AT AL FE A & 200 875
TTEtE  BiR 58.25% - i fERL R A
B1|4% 200 & 7 JT LA _E EY {5t e ST RS B
FTE  BEAR16.5% °

At FEERENEEERBNE LT
TR IR IR A ET R RFE AE &Y AT 200 878
TCRTE8.25% - #BB200 & B T Ay fh AT
AR E A BRI 16.5% ©

RRARRA ER Z AR B R RE
HIAFT RV AN REFEWEA
A AL E ERTE A A - BN R
BMBHRARBENEHETRERE
(ZF=—F:8])-

BREARENBCEMEGHE( D
E¥REREAD RCEMBRAE A
8l hE ARKMBECEMESRHEE
B25%(Z B —F : 25%) o

HRPBEAMFAREAFE(ZT
T R)OBMBENLEELETE
B FES M B HmR T RIEH T
B RIS o
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e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT__F+_A=1+—HILFEAETIIF)

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The tax charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:

2022

Hong Kong

Bk

1. i8R @)

RAFRNBLER RIS B M
22 TE UK 25 3R P A0 B A AT B R 4 AR
mr

el e T

% PRC ) Total
Biptk s Bt k)

Loss before tax bR AIEE (4,879,166) (8,022,363) (12,901,529)
Tax atapplicabletaxrates ~ #Z@EAT X EHH  (805,062) 16.50  (2,005,591) 25.00 (2,810,653)
Tax effect of expenses not ~ RA[HIFER 2

deductible for tax purpose 2 1,370,340 324,941 1,695,281
Tax effect of income not BERVBERZ

taxable for tax purpose Misz & (962,406) (698,924) (1,661,330)
Tax effect of temporary REER BT A

difference not recognised  EERIKEE (16,085) 600,217 584,132
Tax effect of tax losses ABERTBEE

not recognised Mz & 413,213 1,298,806 1,712,019
Change in deferred tax BEERRNHIE

assets relating to tax BEEBNET

losses previously HIBEERE

recognised 1,886,819 - 1,886,819
Income tax expense for FRBEL L

the year 1,886,819 (480,551) 1,406,268
2021 T —F

Hong Kong PRC %
BB Btk H Bkt

Profit/(loss) before tax BEARF /(BB 892362 (6,279,230) 2,683,132
Tax at applicable tax rates RERARETERR 1,478,789 16.50 (1,569,808) 25.00 (91,019
Tax effect of expensesnot ~ Aa[31FIER 2

deductible for tax purpose  MEFE 244,040 477,992 722,032
Tax effect of income not BERVEE 2

taxable for tax purpose M2 (2,850,227) (685,398) (3,535,625)
Tax effect of temporary AERZBEFE

difference not recognised ~ EEH KL (8,147) 123,321 115,174
Tax effect of tax losses AERHBEEL

not recognised M2 1,135,545 696,446 1,831,991
Income tax credit for FRAREER

the year = (957,447) (957,447)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. ¥EE (BR) 27

(Loss)/Profit for the year has been ZEEZFIE (5t A) /HIk :
arrived at after (crediting)/

charging:
Gross rental income from KEMERSIWMALEE
investment properties (4,511,972) (5,146,981)
Less: direct operating expenses W AFEREEYMERE 2
incurred for investment HeWAmMEEEEL
properties that generated 5=
rental income during the year 260,170 280,498
(4,251,802) (4,866,483)
Employee benefits expense BI@AZH
(including directors’ (BIEESHS) :
remunerations):
Salaries and other benefits inkind &£ ME M E WiEF 10,267,791 11,166,537
contributions to retirement RIRET B3R
benefit scheme 959,721 781,213
11,227,512 11,947,750
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {ERAEEEZITE 3,076,609 3,255,587
Depreciation of hotel property BIEMEZITE 2,449,064 2,449,064
Depreciation of other property, plant E#¥% - BE RBE2ITE
and equipment 1,316,022 1,539,735
Total depreciation mine 6,841,695 7,244,386
Auditors’ remuneration Z BB B & 780,000 780,000

TECFIR o MBERAERAT 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT__F+_A=1+—HILFEAETIIF)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERFEFTHRASFM
EMOLUMENTS

Directors” and Chief Executive’s remuneration for the KREBEIBETHAERES  BE L
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules TR AR A THEFIHEN T
and CQ, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE=-E-_—%£+=-A=+—H
Salaries Contributions

and other to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme emoluments
HFEoREAM
e 3k BN BAREEEK FHE

(A) Executive Directors BITEE

Ms. Lin Nuchao (Note () M2z (FIEE ) - - - -
Mr. Yang Liyu (Note (i) B E (i) - - - -
Mr. Zhang Jianmin (Note (i) sRES (&£ (i) = 437,250 57,837 495,087
Ms. Chen Danyun (Note (v)) — FRAZE (KizE(iv) - 350,000 - 350,000
Mr. Chen Yang (Note (v)) B4z (Bt (V) - 270,000 - 270,000
Sub-total /et - 1,057,250 57,837 1,115,087
The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above LAi%ﬂﬁ%%%ﬁ@IIK{’E%@1F‘EJ¥T$
were mainly for their services with the management of NRIRAEEEL 2 ERITRRT
the affairs of the Company and the Group.
Note: B :
0 Ms. Lin Nuchao was appointed on 23 June 2022. 0] MEBEXTRZE_ZFA-+=H#
fEam ©
(ii) Mr. Yang Liyu was appointed in 23 June 2022. Mr. Yang Liyu is (i) ﬁﬁﬂif‘ﬁiﬁéf T ZFRNAZ+T=HH
also the chief executive and the emoluments disclosed above o GRS EMARNARITREBR -
including these for service rendered by him as the chief Eﬁlﬁﬁéiiﬁﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ@%ﬁ@ﬁ@%ﬁif’ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
executive. BEREBRBEOME -
@iy ~ Mr. Zhang Jianmin was appointed on 23 June 2022. @iy REGEER-ZZ=_FAAZ+=B#
fFan o
(ivy  Ms. Chen Danyun was re-designated as non-executive director vy BRNEZTR-_ZT_—_FA=Z+=HE
on 23 June 2022 and the amount shown above represents the WIETERFENITES Lo BERRM
remuneration received by her as Executive Director. VERITE RIS R -
(v)  Mr. Chen Yang resigned on 23 June 2022. V) BRBEERZZT_FAZ+=HFER -
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2
x5 ERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z__F1T-_A=T—BHIFRCABETIIR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Name of Directors

ESnA

(B) Non-Executive Directors JEs{T&=
Mr. Feng Qiang (Note (i) BER (FIEE () -

13. EERERTRARTHM @

BE=R%=-—"=FfT=H=1F—H

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits benefit
in kind scheme
HeREAM
ENZER

Total
emoluments

R

RNEH RIS

Mr. Wang Ruilian Tk = - - -
Ms. Weng Weijian S - - - -
Ms. Chen Danyun (Note (i) B2 (Bt 3E (i) = - - -
Sub-total Nt = - - -

The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

Note:

(i) Mr. Feng Qiang resigned on 23 June 2022.

(if) Ms. Chen Danyun was re-designated as non-executive director
on 23 June 2022 and the amount shown above represents the

remuneration received by her as Non-Executive Director.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

A EFRTEEZHFHEIRIERART
SHEMBRRNEEMEL 2R

B = :

(i) BAEL+R-_E-_—_FEXA-+=H&
FHWIEERIENITES - LS BERRM
VERIEMITE SRR -

BE-Z2-—F+=-A=t+-~H

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement

benefits benefit Total
Name of Directors in kind scheme emoluments
FeRHM
Esps EMZEN BAGEMUR B EE
(C) Independent Non- BUFHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEK 120,000 - - 120,000
Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda BER 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Ng Man Kung Rt 120,000 - - 120,000
Sub-total /et 360,000 - = 360,000
The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments N EBIHERTEZTHFHEEERR
shown above were mainly for their services as director NE|EBFER 2 RTE ©
of the Company.
Total st 360,000 1,057,250 57,837 1,475,087
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z-_—F+_A=1+—HIELFEAETIIF)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERFEFTHBAEFM &)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 e e e [l ] e e =]

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement

benefits benefit Total
Name of Directors inkind scheme  emoluments
HeREM
G e EM RN RIKEEIEK @t
(A) Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Yangbiao (Note () BRI (BI=E () - 540,000 - 540,000
Ms. Chen Danyun (Chief Executive) BRI E (775484 - 650,000 - 650,000
Mr. Chen Yang Bia - 585,000 - 585,000
Sub-total et = 1,775,000 = 1,775,000
The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above A ERITESHFM EEEAM IR
were mainly for their services with the management of RARAEEEL 2 BRITHART ©
the affairs of the Company and the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bz Z-_—4F+_-_A=+—H

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme  emoluments
e kA
EEers we  BUZEHN RIKGEMRT Bt E

(B) Non-Executive Directors FH{TEE

Mr. Feng Qiang bl > a 5 <
Mr. Wang Ruilian il - - - -
Ms. Weng Weijian Sl - - - -
Sub-total et - - - -
The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above A EFRTESHFMNEEERERAT
were mainly for their services as directors of the SEMBRARMNESAEL 2R -

Company or its subsidiaries.
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERFEFTHBAEFM &)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 s =t B ==

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement

benefits benefit Total
Name of Directors inkind scheme  emoluments
Fe Rt
BEfT wE  BWZEN  RIKGHEIHK Bt e
(C) Independent Non- BIkBTES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEJK 120,000 - - 120,000
Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda BER 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Ng Man Kung R0t 120,000 - - 120,000
Sub-total NaF 360,000 - - 360,000
The Independent Non-executive Directors” emoluments N EBYIERTESTEMEEEAN
shown above were mainly for their services as director NRIEEZBEL 7RG -
of the Company.
Total @5t 360,000 1,775,000 - 2,135,000
Note: MiE
(i) Mr. Chen Yangbiao resigned on 21 September 2021. (i) BRIGIEEAER T _—FhLA-+—HE
Fo
There was no arrangement under which the Director or ARBEEHNETEZTHRABRBERTH
the Chief Executive waived or agreed to waive any Rk R ERREMBE o

remuneration during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT__F+_A=1+—HILFEAETIIF)

14.

15.

148

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 14.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, two (2021: three) were Directors and the
Chief Executive of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosure in Note 13 above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2021: two)
individual was as follows:

B S &

FRAERHEEY MB(ZT=—
F: E%)ﬁ%%&ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ Y
MeDst AMFE1BZEEMEAN - H
B-ZB(ZEZ_—F: MB)ALZH
Ban T

Salaries and other benefits in kind FehEMEY 2 & 1,206,000 871,000

Contributions to retirement RRETEIEE R
benefit schemes 46,670 32,859
1,252,670 903,859

The emolument was within HK$1,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no
emolument was paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including the Directors of the Company,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15.
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings

per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021 are based on the Group's profit attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

B4 & 541,000,000 T2 A °
HE_ZT-_—_F#+-_A=+—HIHF
EEME - WEERAL  BREAAF
ZEEES NS EARS AN
AREER B EABRBREZ
T-—fF )

sk (&51R) ‘&2

ARREEREABZE_ZE K
—E - F+-A=+—HILZEHh
ZtﬂxﬁK&%% J%TE S BRIy IR
THRARZERF

(Loss)/Profit

(E518) &R
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable  ZNEE AR TIHEZRIEHE A

to owners of the Company forthe — fE( (E518) B FIFB LA

purposes of basic and diluted ATEERERNREE Y

(loss)/earnings per share (B18) &BF (14,307,797) 3,640,579
Number of shares R&HOEAR
Weighted average number of AU EEREARREE

ordinary shares for the purposes (B18),/ B F z LimphniE

of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings A% &x

per share 1,145,546,000 1,145,546,000
No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 :%?::E&— T —FUEBER
were presented as there were no potential ordinary BOOZEBBR Rl —TZZFR
shares in issue for both 2022 and 2021. “ECFUEEERA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - BERRE

Plant,
machinery
Hotel Furniture Leasehold and
property and fixtures  improvements equipment
BRE R
EENE £E NELRE PET ]
COST BRERA
At 1 January 2021 W_Z-—F
=J=F 92,391,462 3,735,055 19,992,493 7114742 123,233,752
Additions NE = 4878 1,051,312 113,407 1,169,597
Disposals HE = - - (464,835) (464,835)
Exchange adjustments BERAR - 108,440 587,342 205,199 901,481
At 31 December 2021 i e
and 1 January 2022 +ZA=+-Bk
—Z-_%-fR-H 92,391,462 3,848,373 21,631,647 6,968,513 124,839,995
Additions NE = 446,807 - 170,201 617,008
Disposals HE = = - (24,273) (24,273)
Exchange adjustments B R = (322,018) (1,832,443) (578,796) (2.733257)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_F
+-B=1-H 92,391,462 3973162 19,799,204 6,535,645 122,699,473
ACCUMULATED BAMEREE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—F—-f—H 80,350,235 2,940,602 15,509,132 5,523,265 104,323,234
Provided for the year KEEHE 2,449 064 163,306 1,036,343 340,086 3,988,799
Eliminated on disposals (&R &8 R 34 = = - (459,832) (459,832)
Exchange adjustments (RS - 88,129 471,785 163,801 723,715
At31December 2021and R-E-—%
1 January 2022 +ZRA=+-Bk
—Z--%-RF-H 82,799,299 3,192,037 17,017,260 5,567,320 108,575,916
Provided for the year AEEHE 2,449,064 207,957 801,824 286,241 3,765,086
Eliminated on disposals & B4 R 34 - - - (17,445) (17,445)
Exchange adjustments B 5 0% = (276,621) (1,472,988) (470976) (2,220,585)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—F
+ZA=1+—H 85,248,363 3,143,373 16,346,096 5,365,140 110,102,972
CARRYING AMOUNTS  EE®@
At 31December2022 R-BEZZfF
+=-A=+-8 7,143,099 829,789 3,453,108 1,170,505 12,596,501
At 31 December 2021 i e
+ZA=1+—H 9,592,163 656,336 4,614,387 1,401,193 16,264,079
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BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

150

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group carried
out a review of the recoverable amount of hotel
property. In performing impairment testing, the directors
of the Company reviewed the carrying amounts of
these assets by reference to a valuation performed by
Norton Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.
Norton Appraisals Limited is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors. The recoverable amount of this
cash-generating unit (“CGU") is determined based on a
value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 3-year period and a discount
rate of 7.25% (2021: 6.74%) per annum. The key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculation are those
regarding the discount rate, growth in revenue, direct
and other operating costs during the period. The
management estimates discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGU.

There was no impairment for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MEHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EHEEE

Leasehold Office

Land premise
HE L W35 P

As at 31 December 2022 A= =—fF
= A =1+—H
Carrying amount BREE 5,465,846 1,458,507 6,924,353

As at 31 December 2021 i

aF = 5 = H
Carrying amount BETEE 7,339,853 230,268 7,570,121
For the year ended BE-ZE_—f&
31 December 2022 +=H=+—~H”
Depreciation charge e 1,874,007 1,202,602 3,076,609
For the year ended HE—_ZT——F
31 December 2021 +=-—A=+—H
Depreciation charge e 1,874,007 1,381,580 3,255,587

Interest on lease liabilities (note 100  HE & &2 F& (KizE 10) 96,737 28,986
Expense relating to short-term leases %5 HAfA S 18RI & B 186,000 -
Total cash outflow for leases HER ML AR 1,505,290 1,443,600
Addition to right-of-use assets EREESERE 2,430,841 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BHE_Z__F+_A=+—BIFREGERTIIR)

17.

152

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases leasehold land and office premise for
its operations. Lease terms were agreed on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and office premise. As at 31 December 2022,
the portfolio of these outstanding short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio during the year ended 31
December 2022 with the corresponding short-term
lease expense disclosed above.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases for office premise and staff quarters are agreed
for terms ranging from one to three years, but may have
termination options as described below. The lease for
the leasehold land is agreed for a term of twenty years,
with remaining of three years as of 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's right-of-use

assets amounted to HK$6,924,353 (2021: HK$7,570,121)
were located in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not
enter into any leases that is not yet commenced.
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has termination option in the lease for office
premise. This is used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the Group'’s
operations. The termination option held is exercisable
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is
reasonably certain not to exercise a termination option,
upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances that is within the
control of the lessee. During the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, there is no such triggering
event.

Notes:

(0]

Pursuant to the terms of the joint venture agreement signed
between the Xiamen Railway Department Company Limited
("Railway Department”) and Yan Hei Limited (“Yan Hei"), both
parties have agreed to establish a Sino-foreign co-operative
joint venture enterprise known as Xiamen South East Asia Hotel
Company, Limited (“Xiamen Plaza”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company to operate and manage Xiamen
South East Asia Hotel (the “Hotel”). The land use rights of the
Hotel have been granted to the joint venture partner and
Xiamen Plaza is vested with the land use rights of the Hotel
throughout the operation period of Xiamen Plaza.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group carried out a
review of the recoverable amount of its leasehold land. The
leasehold land is used in the Group’s hotel operation segment.
In performing impairment testing, the directors of the Company
reviewed the carrying amount of the leasehold land by
reference to a valuation performed by Norton Appraisals
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group. Norton Appraisals Limited is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The recoverable
amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 3-year period
and a discount rate of 7.25% (2021: 6.74%) per annum. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculation are those regarding
the discount rate, growth in revenue, direct and other operating
costs during the period. The management estimates discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGU.

There was no impairment for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

17. ERERE @)
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18.

154

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

18. HEMX

FAIR VALUE ARE
Balance at beginning of year FH4E R 235,800,000 233,800,000
Net (decrease)/increase in fair value  AEZRHERZ AL BT

recognised in profit or loss (R A>), /180 (900,000) 2,000,000
Balance at end of year FREEER 234,900,000 235,800,000
Unrealised (loss)/gain on properties  BERIB 2 KRB IR

revaluation included in profit or loss  #p%&E 4 (E18) U as

(included in other losses and gains) (BFEREMEE RUE) (900,000) 2,000,000

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purpose are measured using the fair value
model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at
31 December 2022 and 2021 have been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by
Norton Appraisals Limited, independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.
Norton Appraisals Limited is a member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Surveyors.

The fair value of the commercial property units were
determined based on the income approach, where the
current passing rents and market rentals of all lettable
units of the properties are assessed and discounted at
the market yield expected by investors for this type of
properties. The current passing rents are assessed by
reference to the current tenancy agreements. The
market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well
as other lettings of similar properties in the
neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by
reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales
transactions of similar commercial properties in Hong
Kong and adjusted to take into account the market
expectation from property investors to reflect factors
specific to the Group’s investment properties. There has
been no change from the valuation technigue used in
the prior years.
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties are their current use.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties was the discount rates used, which ranged
from 2.5% to 3.75% (2021: 2.25% to 5.50% per annum).
An increase in the discount rate used would result in a
decrease in fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

Another key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties was the reversionary income potential of the
tenancies. The higher the reversionary income potential
of the tenancies, the higher the fair value of the
investment properties, and vice versa.

The fair value of the parking space was determined
based on direct comparison method, which was making
reference to market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjust to reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject property. There has been no
change from the valuation technigue used in the prior
year.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2022 are as follows:

Commercial property units 7R BB R

located in Hong Kong )
Parking space located in IR EBHEEAL
Hong Kong

18. RBMR (@)

#ﬁﬁ%%Zﬁﬁﬁ% BEMEZ
BRRERGRIABEERME

HEp—EHIZRABERAFEREYD
FTHRHE - BB RN T EF2.5%
B375%(Z_FE_—F: BF225%%F
550%) > BRI E EFHEESHIREY
REZRREZ N K2R e

Hpx-—RETBHREFR/NGERE
METHONERKAL S - L&
BURARNEFARESREMEZR
RELER  RZTA -

FEMHNAABERBEEELREE
T EefEZmME LRENEENY
EX S REL FHE AR LY ENIF
HFALE - i L {3 (B 7 A B2 LA 1% B RS
FELL I EE O o

R-—E-—_—#+-_HA=+—8 K&
BREMEZHBREAAEERZE
BETIAT

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 3 2022

R-ZT_——
+=A=+—H
E=H ZARE

234,100,000 234,100,000

800,000 = 800,000

800,000 234,100,000 234,900,000

There was no transfer into or out of Level 2 and Level 3
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

e - F+_-_A=+—HHMH
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 18. ¥ EME »#)
Details of the Group’s investment properties and A= Es = =T B = o= [BlaNES(E
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 KEMEZHBRARBER ZER
December 2021 are as follows: ER N

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 3 2021

R-ZT——
F=E=4=E
EF=R ZANRE

commercial property units RIR BB RGN

located in Hong Kong bES - 235,000,000 235,000,000
Parking space located in IR EBHEERL
Hong Kong 800,000 - 800,000
800,000 235,000,000 235,800,000
There was no transfers into or out of Level 2 and Level 3 E%?:gifi +=A E_—i—— =R:EN
during the year ended 31 December 2021. WIS A HNE R =4 -
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19. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 19. BB ATIE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company had ANNEIIN =28 = = G r 7 B =A==i5
interests in the following subsidiaries: =R o —dnar— B = o= (5 Hissrs

ZEEMBRRERFFBOT

Place of Proportion of
establishment/ nominal value
incorporation and of issued capital/ Nominal value of
principal place of registered capital  issued share capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations held by the Company registered capital Principal activities
Ry EM RNFEL
RIREE ERIRE/EMEX EBRTRE/
i) PNEEL EEE HEZADYL ZMEREE TEER
2022 2021
“E-CF | ZE- &
% %
Direct subsidiaries:
EBMEAR
Ming Chuen Construction Hong Kong 100 100 Ordinary HK$100,000 Investment holding
Company, Limited
BIIZEBR AT Bk LBAX 100,000 T REER
Yan Hei Limited Hong Kong 100 100 Ordinary HK$10,000 Investment holding
and Deferred (Note (i)
HK$10,000
CRREBAR N L@ 10,0008 7T REER
BB AR (PREE ()
10,0007 T
Champ Profit Asia Investment  Hong Kong 100 100 Registered capital Investment holding
Limited (“Champ Profit”) Ordinary HK$1
HERARERRAR Bt AMERLER VAT REER
([&=BEK))
Nice Profit International Hong Kong 100 100 Ordinary HK$1 Investment holding
Limited ("Nice Profit")
BEERERATF B L@R1ET REER
(THERR])
Indirect subsidiary:
EEHREAR
Xiamen Plaza (Note (i) PRC 100 100 Registered capital Hotel operations
US$5,000,000
BB (PR (i) F HMEAS5000000%T BEER
Notes: BsE
(i) The deferred shares carry no right to dividends and no right to (i) BT EEEIRAR S - IVEREREAR D
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of AEMEREAE 2 @S EERR NS5
the Company. In the winding-up of the Company, holders of the R& FITE o (FNFHEIT/ERE - BIER
deferred shares are entitled to receive half of the amounts paid- MNIEFEEABEATIL BRIEAEAES LR
up or credited as paid-up on shares after the holders of the B A% 10,000,000 7T « B EKEE
ordinary shares of the company have received a total return of B D sk ABRSIES B 2 F & h1E o
HK$10,000,000 per share.
(i) Xiamen Plaza was established as a sino-foreign co-operative (if) BB IRERE AR EMBEDARBEMK
joint venture company under the laws of the PRC and is SRR INEEREE  WHICEZEHEE

currently wholly-owned by Yan Hei.
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- FF+A=+—HLFEGABTIIR)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 20. RBEQAFIZER
Details of the Group’s interest in associates are as AREB Z7BENRFEBFOT ¢
follows:

Share of net assets FEE B 14,513,460 128,507,445
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had RZFE-Z—F+=ZA=+—BEk=%F
interest in the following associates: T+ A=+ —HAKEBEZHE
NGIES p N
Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and principal
Name of place of Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting rights
associates operation interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
BIREE rEEER AEEEEN
BENRER EEME FENEERRLLH RERELH TEER
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C =z —E_C &
% ) %
Fuzhou Harmony Piano Co., PRC 25 25 25 25 Design, manufacturing
Ltd. PRC ("Harmony Piano”) (Indirect) (Indirect) (Indirect) (Indirect) and distribution of
piano and related
products
BMNZEERHERAR HE 25 25 25 25 KA BERDH
([MEHE]) (B#) (%) (M) (&) WEREBEER
Fujian Huamin Leasing PRC 18.44 25.19 18.44 25.19  Provision of financial
Company Limited (Direct) (Direct) (Direct) (Direct) leasing and
("Fujian Huamin Leasing") associated services
(Notes () and (ii))
REEHMAMERERAT HE 18.44 25.19 18.44 2519 BHBERER
(IBRERRE]) (E#) (B#) (E#) (E®&) RS
(B k() R i)
Note: M5k
(i) On 2 April 2021, upon additional capital contribution of Fujian 0} RZZE-_—FMAZH EEEEHEE
Huamin Leasing, the registered capital of Fujian Huamin Leasing A% BEEREEZFMERED /\E
was enlarged from approximately RMB170,000,000 to #170,0000007T #E K & X A R #
approximately RMB270,000,000 and the Group’s equity interest 270,000,0007C - MASKERNBREREE
in Fujian Huamin Leasing was diluted from approximately 40% VAR R 40 40% #E 2 4925.19% » HWAR{E
to approximately 25.19%, resulting in a gain on deemed disposal HEBE QT 2 WL A 3,462,133 8T ©
of approximately HK$3,462,133. Immediately upon completion REREELE mﬁkfé EREMEEEER
of the capital increase, Fujian Huamin Leasing continued to be RSV L NE]

classified as an associate.
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Note: (Continued)

(if) On 3 August 2022, upon additional capital contribution of Fujian
Huamin Leasing, the registered capital of Fujian Huamin Leasing
was enlarged from approximately RMB270,000,000 to
approximately RMB500,000,000 and the Group's equity interest
in Fujian Huamin Leasing was diluted from approximately
25.19% to approximately 18.44%, resulting in a loss on deemed
disposal of HK$2,085,554. Immediately upon completion of the
capital increase, Fujian Huamin Leasing ceased to be an
associate and the retained interest is regarded as a financial

asset (Note 21).

Summarised financial information of

associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the
equity method in these consolidated financial

Statements.

Harmony Piano

20. RBIELTZEE ()

BiaE : (&

(i) MR-ZT-_—F/\A=H =E=HAg#
TEINNEAHE HAMEABARE
H27BILEAZLNSET - MALEEEE
EERBEENERIFIRL 1T 25.19% %
BE41844%  EHAEBERFEIEHE
MEA T 2,085,554 8 LRI K » EE A
Bkt REERAETEE —XHE
¥ MRBHESEEE—BEMEE
(Mt3E21) ©

BEQAT M BEMEE

AT RRNEBOEE QR 2P BERER
PIREBZMBENRE - IRER
B T R A -

RIEEMBHRRP BB E QR T
RAEREAR °

NB2RE

Current assets mEEE 57,662,497 71,625,730
Non-current assets ERBEE 14,254,505 16,658,466
Current liabilities nBEE (13,863,161) (15,495,344)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE - (2,037,360)
Revenue W e 21,941,110 55,371,036
Loss for the year KREEEIE (6,977,763) (256,158)
Other comprehensive income RNEFZHEMPE W

for the year - -
Total comprehensive expense AFELE T H4ERE

for the year (6,977,763) (256,158)

Dividend received from
the associate during the year

YeBR B i& Bk 2 A )
Z BB
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued)

Harmony Piano (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amounts of the interest in
associates recognised in the consolidated financial
statements as follows:

20. RBEQTFIZER (&)
BENR 2 HBENBE (&)

MBEE ()

LI B R AR R B R S B RS SRR A
HERR B 45 2 ) A1 2 R (A0 0B
ZZDT

Net assets of Harmony Piano MER=E FEE 58,053,841 70,751,492
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 74 [ f& (5 1 i =

interest in Harmony Piano AMEAEEZBEDL 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group's REBHFNBHE 2

interest in Harmony Piano HERERMEE 14,513,460 17,687,873
Fujian Huamin Leasing FEREREE

2021
T —F

Current assets mEBEE 757,470,701
Non-current assets FERBEE 637,128,964
Current liabilities ViE=RES (826,282,076)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (128,382,806)
Revenue g 54,295,488
Profit for the year REFEERFN 25,246,215
Other comprehensive income AEZEMEEWE

for the year _
Total comprehensive income NEELPEKFEEE

for the year 25,246,215

Dividend received from
the associate during the year

Yo ER 5 15 e B
ZRE

/NG
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TR A=+ —BLEFECAETLIITR)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REIBATRIZEE »©)
Summarised financial information of BENTZHEERBE &)
associates (Continued)

Fujian Huamin Leasing (Continued) EEERBAE(E)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial Ll ER T BEES M ERRA
information to the carrying amount of the interest in TR E R A A= BRE A A R
associates recognised in the consolidated financial N

statements as follows:

2021
T —F

Net assets of Fujian Huamin Leasing 122 MAER & E 439,934,783
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7 £ & A & iR 2= &
interest in Fujian Huamin Leasing ~ FB & b #Y AR AE Lt {7 25.19%

Carrying amount of the Group’s REBNERER

interest in Fujian Huamin Leasing &/ EEE 110,819,572
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21.

162

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. BREEERAAEEGEZS
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS MEE

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: BEIIE AR ERABRS Y SREE:

Unlisted equity securities K ETH AR HERE 104,515,000 -

Notes: Mtk

(@  The unlisted equity securities are shares in Fujian Huamin (@ KRETHREZFFREEEREENR
Leasing, a company incorporated in PRC which is providing of 7 ZARREFEAMEME - Rite
financial leasing and associated services. As at 31 December RiAE & K AR B AR 75 o &k = 2022 4F 12 A 31
2022, the Group held 18.44% equity interest in Fujian Huamin H SERAREEERHEE AR 18.44%H
Leasing. & #E o

The following table summarizes the quantitative AT RRBE TEZE2022F12 A31H

information about the significant unobservable inputs MNEZMARBEIAEMERNEES

used in level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 T B R ANBEE -

December 2022:

Relationship of
Significant unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation unobservable input(s) to fair value
Description Fair value  technique input fair value Range of inputs to the input

EATUBE FUBEEBAUER AREHBAN
i fhiEHE PN 1§ NMEEZBE PN BB

Fujian Huamin Leasing 104,515,000  Market approach  Price-to-book ratio  Higher the price-to- 099t01.10 Approximately
BRERNE 5 A% mFE book ratio, higher the  (+/-5%relative to  HK$99,289,000 0
fair value and vice input adopted) approximately
versa 0.99%/1.10  HK$109,741,000
mEEHs  ANEE (+/-5%EBR 41992890007
e R FIREREA) £109,741,0007T

Discount for lack ~ Higher the discount for 8.26%109.13% Approximately
of marketability lack of marketability, (+/-5% relative to  HK$105,013,000 to

s B lower the fair value input adopted) approximately
and vice versa 826%59.13%  HK$104,018,000
mERBEN e (+-5%BER 4910501300057
AR BEBE - FRBRBA) 210401800078 T
RZ A
The reconciliation of movements in Level 3 financial F-ReRIERLAABETFTENE
instruments measured at fair value are set out in note BN R E NI FEST -

31.
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22.

23.

B SRR (LU e )

INVENTORIES

22. ¥R

Consumables Si8FEMS

285,767

293,550

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. B 5 K FEU AR =

Trade receivables EUE SRR 378,603 886,331
Loss allowance BB (115,717) (126,426)
262,886 759,905
Other receivables, utility deposits ~— Hfb fEU R IE ~ AR HE
and prepayments Be RIEMFIE 13,405,258 15,031,068
Loss allowance B R (12,697,261) (13,872,410)
707,997 1,158,658
Total trade and other receivables 28 5 K H i e Ui B Fh 42 58 970,883 1,918,563

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of loss allowance presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

UTERHREERBHARREET B
B E W E 5 R B R B R R AR D
A7 o

0-30 days 0-30k 365,562 880,526
31-60 days 31-60K 13,041 -
61-90 days 61-90 X - -
91-180 days 91-180 k& - 5,805

378,603 886,331
Less: Loss allowance T BB R (115,717) (126,426)

262,886 759,905

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 are set out in Note 31.

HE_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—HBkZ=
E-_—F+-A=+—HIEENE
S5 R EMERFERETGHFBIN
FEE31 -
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

24.

B&kBITHER

Cash at bank and in hand RITMEFRE

39,730,957 49,520,268

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

At 31 December 2022, time deposit, cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$34,118,208
(2021: HK$41,230,620). The remittance of these funds
out of the PRC is subject to the exchange control
restrictions imposed by the government of the PRC.

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25.

RITAERIZET BRITEFZIF X
-

R=FE = =4 = f ==[F » a8%2
ETHER ReENBITESKAEAR
(AR ]) &8 K4% 34,118,208 %
T(ZB=—4F : 41,230,620/87T) < &
& & P B E S B BT E fe R SN E
EHIFTPR ©

5 B 2 E R

Trade payables FEfTE SRR 1,103,193 1,253,454
Other payables H R BR R 6,783,074 7,220,332
Rental deposits received EdIES 1,617,428 1,979,588
Total trade and other payables B 5 R EMEMERARE 9,503,695 10,453,374

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

ENESZEFINFERREERRE
SHZREDAOT

0-180 days 0-180 H 728,335 1,001,731
181-360 days 181-360 H 127,398 41,011
Over 360 days 838360 A 247,460 210,712

1,103,193 1,253,454

The average credit period is 60 days (2021: 60 days).
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HERAR®

Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEaRE
Within one year R—FA 1,234,573 239,739
Within a period of more than LA — BT HBA T
one year but not more than
two years 248,245 i
1,482,818 239,739
Less: Amount due for settlement B OmENEEE NERAY
with 12 months shown under 1218 AR FE £ E %A
current liabilities (1,234,573) (239,739)
Amount due for settlement after EmBEEE TERW
12 months shown under 1218 A BHER EERE
non-current liabilities 248,245 -
27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. RERIA
The following are the major deferred tax balances NTARAREBRAFERBEFER
recognised and movements thereon during the current R EBREEHBESR R HEES) :
and prior year:
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEEE

Accelerated tax
depreciation

IEBIRITE
At 1 January 2021 RN—E-_—%—H—H 2,364,166
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) RigzsmE R (M) (957,447)

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HK

—E-—H#—HF—H 1,406,719
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) Bz E R (MEE11) (480,551)
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—F+=-A=+—H 926,168
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 27. BEERIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Tax losses
HIEEE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 i e e =
and 1 January 2022 PR == S ge=F K%
et = = el 1,886,819
Charge to profit or loss (Note 11) RiEZPEA (FiEE11) (1,886,819)
At 31 December 2022 REEm ==t =B =5—E =
At 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses NR-ZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H" K&
of approximately HK$178,377,000 (2021: approximately B #%5F 178,377,000 T (ZF = —4F :
HK$172,426,000) available for offset against future #9172,426,000787T) 2 Rt IEE 1B F]
taxable profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. HFE HIGEEE - MEB AR R B A 2 R
The unrecognised tax losses arising from subsidiaries RUBEERERAFARE - A&
operated in the PRC will expire within 5 years. The .EEF*IEJ*'JWK/RT—JTE\ A
group does not recognised deferred tax assets in REARBE_ZT-__F+=A
respect of tax losses for the year ended 31 December ST —HIEZFENMEERAES
2022 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. RPEET EE ©
At 31 December 2021, deferred tax assets have been RZEZ—F+A=+—0 2%
recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$11,435,263. RRBELEHMBEEENTEERR
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 11,435,263 87T - BN AREETRET Big 2
the remaining tax losses of HK$160,990,653 due to the BF) - B R 160,990,653 BT (ZF
unpredictability of future profit streams. ——% 160,990,653 70) 2 Rt FiE
EETER -
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B ¥
2022 2021
—E-C& —T-—fF
Number Number
of shares of shares
Issued and fully paid EZTRAZKRE RYE B BREHE
At 1 January and R—A—BEk
31 December +-A=1+—H 1,145,546,000 898,839,029  1,145,546,000 898,839,029
29. RESERVES 29. s
Details of changes in reserves of the Group are set out ZIK‘i EREEBS 2 FBEHNENEZ
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on SREEEEEK o
page 80.
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30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
(including trade and other payables and lease liabilities),
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a regularly basis. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new shares issue as well as
the issue of new debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was
as follows:

30. SxEBEER

AEBEEREEARN  ABRAEEE
TEBKEEEREKERT R
BEBELCEBRBRAERBRRE K
[l - AERE 2 EERMETF 2 -

rEBZEARERRAGB(BREES
MEMEMNERTNEEEE) BEk
BReFEBEBUARARBFAE ARG
s BREREETRAEA BELRE
B8 -

AREEWLZBEAINBEINNE RF
jz o

SfEk=R

AEBEREETHMBEMNERNRE -
AEEEEEEEREAKARZR
BK 2 B ) R B 1 R B Y E P
- REEEENES  A5ESR
RRERE - BIFREBETHNE
AT BEBEANRERE

BELERAFERRDT

Debt (Note (i) &1 (MEEa0) 10,986,513 10,693,113
Cash and cash equivalents RENRSEE (39,730,957) (49,520,268)
Net debt BERFEE (28,744,444) (38,827,155)
Equity (Note (ii)) P 7S g (B & (i) 402,524,240 429,661,013
Net debt to equity ratio BRI AR L K N/A N/A
Notes: 5T

(i) Debt comprises trade and other payables and lease liabilities as
detailed in Notes 25 and 26, respectively.

(if) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

(i) BERBELDE S REMENRRNEE
BfE - FHEDRIENHEE25 K 26

iy BAEZEEAEERBEERREE -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

168

Categories of financial instruments

31. &MT R

(@)

$RMITESE

Financial assets EREE

Financial assets at amortised cost i sk AR5 2 £ B &

— Trade and other receivables —E 5 R HE AR ERTK 891,173 1,357,625
— Cash and bank balances —HE RIRITAR 39,730,957 49,520,268
40,622,130 50,877,893
Financial assets at fair value BREREALBEES 2
through profit or loss TREE — RBHFTE
— mandatorily measured BAREFAEE
at FVTPL 104,515,000 =
Financial liabilities cRaE
Financial liabilities at BERAY Rz emAERE
amortised cost
— Trade and other payables — B S REMEMERR 9,032,838 9,830,420
— Lease liabilities —HEa’E 1,482,818 239,739
10,515,656 10,070,159

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, trade and other payables and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the
Group’'s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk.
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CECCF+ A=+ —HIEFE (BETHITR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Market risk
Currency risk

Substantially revenue and cost of the Group are
denominated in the functional currency of the
Group entities, the management does not expect
significant foreign currency exposure in relation to
the exchange rate fluctuation between the
respective group entities’ functional currency and
other currencies.

Management periodically monitors foreign
currency exposures and considers hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is not exposed to significant fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. Sensitivity analyses for unquoted
equity securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note
21.

The management will monitor the equity price risk
and take appropriate actions should the need
arise.

31. @RI R @)
(b) EREMEEBEMBRE)

™5 E R
I B

AEE T B KA E AR
REWEEEE  HERER
HEEEERNINEEBEA D
B HRNERRH I GELS
RIME R o

BEEETHEEINERRREE
REFBEZRHHEAINERRE

AREEI L E mER AT EFNRR
SRR REN KRR - A&
= 3R B 3 R R B PR o A
me EEEEENERR XK
EEFERZEEPEANEME

(G
AR

[

E BT R R

AEBHBREEBBERED
RETENEREENBRKER
[\ o

e b p

BRRE DT TIARB I RS HIR AT
HRARANERERETE - 2T
EEAERERF =MNERE
P 7R 58 25 O BURR N 0 AT FE P R 21
PR -

B 12 B S B PR AR AR
7 B SREUE ¥ 716 -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

170

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated
with its financial assets, except that the Group
holds rental deposits from tenants for leasing of
properties.

Cash deposit at banks

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash and cash
equivalent since they are deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large size
listed banks. Management does not expect that
there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic
credit evaluations of its customers. The Group
assesses the credit quality of each customer by
taking into account its financial position, past
experience and other factors. Credit limits are
reviewed on periodic basis, and the finance
department is responsible for such monitoring
procedures. In determining whether provision for
impairment of receivables is required, the Group
takes into consideration the credit risk
characteristics of customers, ageing status and
the likelihood of collection and adjusted for
reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information. In this regard, the directors are
satisfied that the risks of impairment are
monitored and adequate provision, if any, has
been made in the consolidated financial
statements. There was no single customer
contributing over 10% of the total trade
receivables of the Group. The Group does not
have any other significant concentration of credit
risk. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the subsequent settlement of the customers. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix and
credit- impaired individually and/or collectively.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors
of the Company make periodic assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The Directors believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

31. @RI R @)
(b) EREMEEBEMBRE)

= RRBMBERE (4F)

B S EMRL

AEEE G EBRABRAAR
BEEELBNEPELEE
MASEERHEAEFETEER
Al fh - NEERBE BEM BN
o BERREHEMERFGE
HAEFPWMEEER - FERES
TR MR EREERR
X RNEERETEZNENEA
WEREE - AEBEEEARK
BEPEERBR R - ARie & UGK
AR WEEAS REAA
B SRFRIRTIE LB R - BLUt ™
5 EEEMERBERR LR
AR MR AL R 595 (10
B) UWEB-FFAERMAKEE
WE SRR ABREN10% A L - K
SEYETMEMENEESET
Rk RRABEETNERRP
MRBESE - b KEEER
HEERRAEATEBHRELE
B EARYE S MRBETRE
ATfh WEBR R EEEHEE
ERRK -

E At JEW AT X

HNEMBRAMES - REIE
EeRBEELEERLE  BEN
E - A RIERA TEE KA
RARBER MRHEM G IE R XX
FRAIEMEEANEEMEMLEE
A - TE HIRE A E R MR AT 3R
WA Ot - EERS 0 BRT)
FERRIASK - EL e BHEERAR
RBEEEN  FEERTER
T EANBEIEERSRE -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
and ECL for trade receivables.

31. @R TR #®)

(b) =EEREEREMNBRE)

= AR BERE (&)

TRFM@IETE SRS
ERRMAREEERL -

K1

As at 31 December

As at 31 December

2022 2021
R-EB-= R-ZE-—%
t=A=+-H tZA=1-H
Gross Gross
carrying Loss | carrying Loss
Range of loss rate amounts allowance | amounts allowance
BEX FHAR HERE LRAE AEEE
Internal credit rating A EEFR
Low risk* ER R * 2022: 30.56%
“E - & 1 3056% 378,603 115,717 809,539 49,634
— Lifetime ECL, not —2HBHAESEL - (2021:6.13%)
credit impaired TREEARE (Z2Z—%:613%)
In default** B 2022: N/A
“E-FNA
— Lifetime ECL, —2HREEER% - (2021:100%)
credit impaired ERRE (Z2=—% 1 100%) - - 76,792 76,792

* Referring to debtors have a low risk of default and do not
have any prior default records and are considered as not
credit-impaired.

k2 Referred to debtors have evidence indicating the assets
are credit- impaired.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for credit-
impaired balances, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

Debtors with credit-impaired with gross carrying
amount of HKS$nil (2021: HK$76,792) as at 31
December 2022 were assessed individually.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. EMIR#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) FiEKMEEBZEMBEKRE)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment ERRBIRETE ()
(Continued)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on HETEAREZRBESATETH
historical observed default rates over the expected BMAFESY FERIINEL G
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- g WREBEERETNEE KA
looking information that is available without undue BARIER N ESHREEE
cost or effort. TR o
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the A = = — = B ==
Group recognised loss allowance of HK$nil (2021: HIEW—FR KEBWRESE
Nil), based on provision matrix. HERIANEBECEER(ZE

——F |

The movement in the loss allowance in respect of REEE 5 W TOR B B R &
trade receivables during the year was as follows. FHE ST o

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2HFAMFEE 2HEHEER
BX(XERE =P
ERREE) (15 AR{E)

As at 1 January 2021 R-ZT-—4F

—H—H 48,216 74,599 122,815

Impairment loss EHERBIEEE
recognised - - -
Exchange realignment [ &Kz 1,418 2,193 3,611

As at 31 December 2021 A=—F——4

+=-—HA=+—H 49,634 76,792 126,426

Impairment loss BRI EEE
recognised 73,155 (73,155) -
Exchange realignment  [& k% (7,072) (3,637) (10,709)

As at 31 December R-E=-—
2022 +=HA=+—H 115,717 - 115,717
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
and ECL for other receivables and deposits.

Range of loss rate

31. @R TR #®)
(b) EREREEBEMBERE)

= ARABFRER (E)

TRFAT) T H ARG TF
FHEERRAMIBEEERK -
As at 31 December As at 31 December
2022
R=Z=Z
+-A=+-H
Gross
carrying Loss
amounts allowance

carrying

amounts  allowance

BiEX FEAE RERE  FEEE HESE
Internal credit rating A EE SR
Low risk* 1B 2022 0.62%

“EZF062% 632,213 3,926 602,010 4,290
— 12mECL —+tZEAMES  (2021:071%)

EEELRE (ZF=—%:071%)

In default** EHr 2022 100%

“ETF 1100%
— Lifetime ECL, — 2 HEEEEEL - (2021:100%)

credit impaired ERRE (ZZZ—F:100%) 12,693,335 12,693,335 13,868,120 13,868,120

* Referring to debtors have a low risk of default and do not * BREBABRENELRR - I

have any prior default records and are considered as not
credit-impaired.

o Referred to debtors have evidence indicating the assets
are credit- impaired.

For other receivables and deposits, the directors
of the Group consider the probability of default is
minimal after assessing the counter-parties’
financial background and creditability. The Group
has assessed and concluded that the expected
credit loss rate for these receivables under 12m
ECL method after taken into account the historical
default experience, historical settlement records
as well as the loss upon default in each case and
are adjusted with forward-looking information.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recognised loss allowance of HK$NIl (2021:
HK$4,168).
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. EMIR#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) e@mEKREEBENBERE)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment ERRBIRETE ()
(Continued)
Debtors with credit-impaired with gross carrying FES T s T RESE T Bl =5
amount of HK$12,693,335 (2021: HK$13,868,120) 1IE - BE 2R A12,693,335% 7T
as at 31 December 2022 were assessed MEEXEBEEBADBEX T
individually. No additional loss allowance was H( = F = — F :13,868,120/%
made on credit-impaired debtors, except for the TC) o BIEREEMTENN - RE
effect of exchange differences. HEEZBMNEBS AREEING

B -

The movement in the loss allowance in respect of NS HRE E A R R R iR & 1Y
other receivables and deposits during the year REBEEEIFROT -

was as follows.

12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2HFAMEFEE 2HEHEER
BX(XERE =P
ERREE) (15 AR{E)

As at 1 January 2021 R-ZT-—4F

—H—H 4,168 13,472,000 13,476,168

Impairment loss EHERBIEEE
recognised - - -
Exchange realignment — [E &% 122 396,120 396,242

As at 31 December 2021 A=—F——4

+—-—A=+—H 4,290 13,868,120 13,872,410

Impairment loss BRI EEE
recognised - - -
Exchange realignment  [& &% (364) (1,174,785) (1,175,149)

As at 31 December R-E=-—
2022 +=BA=+—H 3,926 12,693,335 12,697,261
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. &I A #)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) £REKEEBEMBERE)

176

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

On demand
or less than 1t0

3 months

RBESEAREE

REBERDHECRERE  KN&EH
EENMERAEMERBATIAR
BRERERRIERZKFIAX
FAKBEz2ERBERERE
BN R R

HEBEDHIEK

TRFANAEESRABZHRT
BRIHBER ZFRARSIIA
AABEEEEABRHKEER
BEcRARARZINHABERS
I o ZFM R RRIR B AN S B K
EJERZ X F BHMETE 2 3F
FRESRE -

Total Carrying
Over undiscounted  amount at

1 month 3 months to1year  1to5years Syears  cashflows 31December
BEX
EZ0 =2 =fiRZ -5z il ¥R +t=A=t-A
—f8A =f@A =£3 i3 it ReRE ZHE
2022 —E-CE
Trade payables BHRNER 1,103,193 - - - - 1,103,193 1,103,193
Other payablesand  HtEMER
rental deposits received 6,984,970 944,675 - - - 7,929,645 7,929,645
Lease liabilities HEARE 107,869 215738 970,821 215738 - 1,510,166 1,482,818
8,196,032 1,160,413 970,821 215738 - 10,543,004 10,515,656
2021 St 3
Trade payables BHRNER 1,253,454 - - - - 1,253,454 1,253,454
Otherpayablesand MK
rental deposits received 7,646,466 930,500 - - - 8,576,966 8,576,966
Lease liabilities HEERE 120,300 120,300 - - - 240,600 239,739
9,020,220 1,050,800 - - - 10,071,020 10,070,159
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial

instruments

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes.

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the year (2021: Nil).

The fair values of the financial assets included in
the Level 3 categories have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

31 December 2022

31. EMIR#)

(c)

ERIRZAAREERE

L B FEHR (8 B A 5= I an ] FE R
EEEMEERERAGBNARN
18 -

AEBRREHANZHOERT
BTVE AR ERE -

FALEBEBEAFELE— £
RE=ZF(ZE_—F: &)

BEEF-AZEMEENIR
BENREMBRSREDITNRA
REEEAEE  HFRIEZ
HBTERARRZ ZHFNE
R FIRE o

B=MzAREFEHR

—B--f#+=-HA=+-8H

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BEiBERUR®

AREZEHEE

Opening balance HRTIEREE -

Purchases A 84,689,379
Addition due to deemed disposal of an RIELEHE QT

associate 106,848,000

Disposals e (83,022,516)

Total loss in profit or loss Rigmh 2 BEE (1,573,866)

Exchange adjustments HINBIERZRMTE (2,425,997)

Closing balance HAR gh%E 104,515,000
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. EMIR#)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c) EMIBEZAABEEE &)
instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value FZMZDAARETEYR(E)
measurements (Continued)

31 December 2021 ST —fErT B —F

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BiBER AR

RREZEMEE

Opening balance HRTIEREE =

Purchases BA 98,407,155
Disposals e (96,794,571)

Total gains in profit or loss Rz 2 B 1,029,205
Exchange adjustments INEEREREFE (2,641,789)
Closing balance HREREE =
Of the total gains or losses for the year included in BERARERAN 2 BBEBERA
profit or loss, a loss of HK$1,573,866 (2021: a gain RMAABEBzZEHEEREIR
of HK$1,029,205) relates to financial assets as at 1573866 BT (ZFE = —F : &
fair value through profit or loss held during the 71,029,205 7T ) Bt ARFE
year. Fair value gains or losses on financial assets ZEFRREHEBEBIERA
as at fair value through profit or loss are included FEZERY BBAANEBEZE
in “other gain and losses". HAARMAABEzZE2MEERR

BiRRETHMWaSRER] & e
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32.

33.

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$4,511,972 (2021: HK$5,146,981). All of the Group’s
investment properties are held for rental purposes. The
Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to five years (2021: one to five years).

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

32. EEHERH

REEB/HBAA

RERNRDMz2WERSBADR
4,511,972 7T (ZZF = —4F : 5,146,981
BIL)  ARBIZEEMESFEED
A% AEEUELEHRELHERA
ME - FIEMEZMBRAFPAERA
FHHAR—ERAF(ZF=—F: —F
HE) -

HERWREREUFHAT

Within one year R—FA 1,774,058 7,322,984
In the second year RE_F 108,000 3,733,538
In the third year RE=F 81,000 559,077
In the fourth year REYF - 443,982

1,963,058 12,059,581

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

33. MREDEEMRARHIE

TRFAFMAI LT HEREA S ENAR
SEAGNED  BRESNIERS
28 MELIPMELNRERER
EREMBIRRASREKELRS
ENGEeRenERTOBRRRER
PELNRSRE

Lease liabilities HEBE
At 1 January n—H—H 239,739 1,654,353
Financial cash flow A e (1,319,290) (1,443,600)
Non-cash changes JEIR S uE
— Interest expense — FMBXZH 96,737 28,986
— New lease entered —HEIMEE 2,430,841 =
— Others — Hfth 34,791 -
At 31 December R+—_A=1+—H 1,482,818 239,739
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34.

180

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF") Scheme under rules and regulations of MPF
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the
Mainland China are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
forfeited contributions available to offset future
employers’ contributions to the schemes.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$959,721 (2021: HK$781,213) represents
contributions paid to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans. There was no
outstanding contribution as at 31 December 2022 and
2021,

FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

34. RHkiEFIEHE

AEBERERHMEATER ([RER])
AEMERPIZRBIERRD - BEFRBER
BREEBRIUBES - FEPHNEER
REFBEADR  WREFRAREE °

2N 5= B R R B A b BT D B 8 B AR
BEmRa 28 -BEREEH
BB TR ENRKENGE - B
NRAEARTERANEE R DX
[A) R K48 A AT B3R - REE LR IR
BAGH B 2 E—BEER R EHRK -

B ZT-_—_RK-_F-—%+—-H
=+—8  UERIWHNERTIEER
RIEEL AR BIA R -

T X ABRMRIBER A959,721 78 7T
(ZE-—F 7812138 T) ERERAN
EERBIEOIGTEIPERZIBELE -
AEBR_ZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—8
—E-—F+-_A=+—H%53lI
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=
35.

TR CF+ A=+ RALFE (UETIIR)
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Extension of operating period of Xiamen
Plaza

Pursuant to an agreement entered into by Yan Hei and
Railway Department on 1 October 1985 for co-operation
on the construction and operation of Xiamen Plaza and
as supplemented and amended subsequently on 18
December 1987 and 21 January 1992 (the “CJV
Agreement”), the operating period for Xiamen Plaza will
end on 11 December 2016. On 6 June 2005 and 20 July
2005, the Company announced that, Yan Hei entered
into an extension agreement with Railway Department,
and Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company Limited
(“Fujian Enterprises”) (as a guarantor) on 9 May 2005
(“"Extension Agreement”), in which, amongst others, the
operation period of Xiamen Plaza will be extended for
an additional 10 years up to 31 December 2025 and a
change in the terms of the CJV Agreement in respect of
the annual amounts to be distributed by Yan Hei to
Railway Department. Pursuant to the terms of the
Extension Agreement, Yan Hei has agreed to pay annual
distributions to Railway Department during the
operating period of Xiamen Plaza up to year 2025 as set
out below:

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
forfeited contributions available to offset future
employers’ contributions to the schemes.

2005 to 2006 - US$70,000 per year
2007 t0 2011 - US$100,000 per year
2012 to 2025 - US$200,000 per year

35.

TECFIR o MBERAERAT

RBMALZES
ERFE K&

BECERERAZEATIN-NANR
F+A— EI.:T_LLA/\T’EE@L&%&?%E?
BIE 2 ERREEROR N 2B (K
BER—NMNEE+ZA+NBEK
—hWNZF—A=Z+—BRxREF])
(TafEmE])  RBz2EEHEN =
E—NE+-A+—B&LE-R=F
iﬂﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁ&_z?ﬁifﬂ
Z+HARREM CEEREKD
&%Fﬁ(ﬁl)ﬁﬁﬁ A ([ERHEE])
(EERAN)ER-ZEZERFHA A
AIVEERRE(TERRZE]D - B/ES
BOEREHEN T _AF+ =
A=+—H#&R - &R HEFIH(EF
BIE)BEINERBEGEDE KL
+FE_FT_AF+A=+—H"
WEREBEFHCEDRTEER
Z%(%EZ/\T’ET%E#ﬂ%?k BRI T = #
HER CEEREREELE M
Ei_y_ﬁifiﬁ DR T EER D
HEFEYFHAT -

BE-Z-__R-F-_—F1+=A
=+—H8 - WELWHHFR AT IR
RIEEEERR BIROHEK -

—EERFE
:fiAE
—EELFHE
—ET——4F
—E——FF
—E-RF

B 70,0003 7T
&4 100,000 7T

&4 200,000 7T
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ES
35.

182

SR+~ A=t B S E el

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Extension of operating period of Xiamen
Plaza (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under the Extension Agreement which fall due as
follows:

35. MBALTZR S (@)

ERREZEEH (&)

REEHRREER  AEEREBLER
e 2 AR & SR RABREMT

Within one year — &R 1,560,000 1,560,000
In the second to fifth years inclusive mMEZERFER 3,120,000 4,680,000
4,680,000 6,240,000

In addition, Fujian Enterprises irrevocably undertakes to
Railway Department that it will guarantee performance
by Yan Hei of its obligations under the CJV Agreement
(as amended and extended).

Railway Department is beneficially owned by the State
Railway Department. To the best knowledge,
information and belief of the directors of the Company,
having made all reasonable enquiries, Railway
Department is considered as an independent third
party, it has no effective interest in the operations of
Xiamen Plaza.

Fujian Enterprises is a trading conglomerate
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and
under administration of Fujian Provincial State-owned
Asset Administration Commission of the PRC. Both
Fujian Enterprises and the Company are ultimately
owned by Fujian provincial government of the PRC.
There are no common directors among Fujian
Enterprises and any member of the Group.
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S
35.

B SRR (LU e )

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Lease agreements in respect of certain
premises at Xiamen Plaza

On 13 April 2015, the Company announced that, Xiamen
Plaza as lessor and Fujian Fulu Wenbo Industry
Company Limited (formerly known as Huamin Mingruli
(Xiamen) Tourism Company Limited) (182 %& ik X 8 &
XERAR(AIWBAERZE(EFIREARAR))
(“Fujian Fulu”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Fujian
Huamin Industrial (Group) Company Limited {22 M &
¥(&38) AR 2D 7 (“Huamin Industrial”), as lessee
entered into the lease agreements in respect of the
lease of certain premises at Xiamen Plaza for a term of
one year from 16 April 2019 to 15 April 2020, and
renewed another term of one year from 16 July 2021 to
15 July 2022.

35. MBALTZR S (@)

BEREE TUENER R

R-ZE—HFWNA+=HB " A&EEX
BIEALEANGERKXIEEES
RAR(AIBAZERES (BF)IKER
RAal) (2@ AEEERE
X (EE)ERAR(EREZE]) SR
EHRBENHBAREAEMEA » 513
HEHEAARBBEERENET—
REE e HEBAZZT—AEMA
AE_Z_ZFNA+RAHEKBEA
—FH_F - —F+tA+BE_Z
——®+A+HAB -

Rental income received (included in - F & U8 A

revenue from hotel operations) (BERBEER 2 ) - 843,333
Rental deposit received U A - 122,309
- 965,642

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with Fujian Fulu for future minimum lease
receivable as follows:

REEHRREER  AEBREZRE
IR RRE S RIEWGREELT

Within one year —FR

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of Directors during the year was as
follows:

TEEBEABZHE

AEEEEFMET

Short-term employee benefits RHBE T

1,475,087 2,135,000

The remuneration of Directors is determined by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trend.

EFHFHIRAFHEASHESE
ARRRTEEATERE -
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35.

184

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Office rental and building management fee
of Fujian Holdings Limited company’s
office

Office rental and management fee were paid to Fujian
Properties Limited (“Fujian Properties”) for the
Company’s office at Unit 3306-08, 33rd Floor, West
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong for a term of 3 years from 11 March 2019 to
10 March 2022. The rental agreement was renewed in
2022 for a term of 2 years from 11 March 2022 to 10
March 2024. Both Fujian Properties and the Company
are ultimately owned by Huamin Industrial. There is no
common directors among Fujian Properties and any
member of the Group.

35. MBALTZR S (@)

HAEZRERATAMRA
RYMREESR

EWHEE

2

AARMERYMEERAR(TERY
¥ BN EBTHBF 200552+
078 B 3342 3306 & 3308 SR B AL 2 #E A
EHEMEEBERHIF AT — N
= Har—EE=E==%=F4E
IF-ZHEEWER S —_FEH2
F BHZEZZF=RA+— 51_7
“WME=ZA+H- - ERYWEMEARQ

ﬁﬁ%@%%%%%ﬁo%ﬁ%%ﬂ
AEEKE 2EI8E HFRMNES -

Office rental paid EffeHAERE 1,319,290 1,443,600
Building management fee paid BENfZYEERSE 163,608 163,608
1,482,898 1,607,208

Other than the office rental listed above, the group also
entered into the following related party transactions
with related parties on terms mutually agreed by both
parties during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Name of related party

REME

Nature of transaction

BRIALIIEOBRAEHES O - K
SERBE_T__F+=-A=1+—
BRFEER - MERBBTREDHKE
RIERGRTETATHEB RS

RS B

Fujian Properties
ER Y MEBRSZH
Lokford Limited (Note)

LEERAA MEEE X

Rental expenses for properties

Rental expenses for properties

Note:

Lokford Limited is controlled by Huamin Industrial.

FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

B aE:

LEAR AR MERERPTIEG



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z__F1T-_A=T—BHIFRCABETIIR)

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36. 2 FHEKIRZEHFE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEMERE 112,190 83,853
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 1,458,507 230,268
Investment properties WE Y 55,300,000 53,800,000
Interest in associates REEERE) 218 E = 76,423,690
Investment in subsidiaries RHBATZ8E 213,197,988 209,970,724
Financial assets at fair value ﬁﬂ?@ SN EBEEEEZ
through profit or loss ERIEE 104,515,000 -
Deferred tax assets EERIBE = - 1,886,819
374,583,685 342,395,354
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables Z 5 & E A IR X 357,846 313,942
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHE 3,545,208 6,153,161
3,903,054 6,467,103
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A TR 1,469,202 1,430,275
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,234,573 239,739
2,703,775 1,670,014
Net current assets REBEEZFE 1,199,279 4,797,089
Total assets less current liabilities #EERFEBAE 375,782,964 347,192,443
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Equity attributable to owners AR AIFFEAEN
of the Company
Share capital f& s 895,839,029 895,839,029
Reserves T (520,338,546) (548,680,822)
Total equity WAL AR 375,500,483 347,158,207
Non-current liabilities FkRBER
Lease liabilities HEAE 248,245 =
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE 34,236 34,236
282,481 34,236
375,782,964 347,192,443

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 24 March 2023 and was signed on its

behalf by:

Lin Nuchao

Mz
Director

EFE

T_=_F=-A-_+tH@AHE

i IR R I & S A/NCI A

$ /_\ E/\ —
MK
Yang Liyu
B E
Director
S
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36. ZAFIMERARERRER 2)
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

186

(Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

RAFHERE

Accumulated

losses
ey
At 1 January 2021 R —=—f=F= (550,718,281) (550,718,281)
Profit for the year NE T 2,037,459 2,037,459
Other comprehensive income REFEMEEUA
for the year = =
Total comprehensive income REEEHEM AL
for the year 2,037,459 2,037,459
At 31 December 2021 and BE-_ZT—-_—F
at 1 January 2022 +—A=+—8K
—E-—4F—H—H (548,680,822) (548,680,822)
Profit for the year REZAF] 28,342,276 28,342,276
Other comprehensive income REFHMEEKA
for the year = =
Total comprehensive income REEE2HEWEETE
for the year 28,342,276 28,342,276
At 31 December 2022 BE-—E—-—
+=—HA=+—H (520,338,546)  (520,338,546)
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Particulars of Property Interests
MERERFS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (in HK Dollars)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEAETIIT)

Particulars of investment property interests held by the Group ARNEBR-—_ZE-—F+—-_A=+—BfFEH

at 31 December 2022 are as follows: B EERIRAT ¢
Gross Group'’s
Leasehold floor area Year of attributable
Investment properties expiry (square feet) completion interest
WIEHESE rEH
REME HA R B (FHR) & E 4 PE{E R
Hong Kong
B8
Commercial
ERAME
Shop Nos. 1, 3and 4 2047 10,464 1981 50%

on Ground Floor together
with open yard adjoining
thereto and the whole of
First and Second Floors,
Sun Ming Court,

Nos. 84-90

Castle Peak Road,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NEEFRIKES ZEMEF 10,464 —NN\—%F 50%
5178 84-905%

¥R

1 345

JE & R AR
LRI —1E
k-ErE

Units A, Cand D on 2047 8,340 1967 100%
21st Floor, Wing On House,

71 Des Voeux Road Central,

Hong Kong

B ZEMEF 8,340 — NNt F 100%
IR

BT 715

KELEBKE

21%ZA -CKEDE

T FW o« MBERARAR 187
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Gross

Leasehold floor area

Investment properties expiry (square feet)

HIZHEEE

BEWE A Em B (FAR)
Others

Hith
Motor cycle parking space 2047 -

Nos. 54, 55, 56, 57 and 58 of
Yuet Ming Building,

No. 52 Yuet Wah Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

NEREE —TmLF -

A EH 5258

AmRE

%5455 5657 %
58 SR E B E AU
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Year of
completion

&R F

1975

—hthsF

Group'’s
attributable
interest
REE
P fb s

100%

100%
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